Public Document Pack
Date:
Our ref:
Ask For:
Direct Dial:
Email:

16 July 2019
Cabinet/Agenda
Charles Hungwe
(01843) 577186
charles.hungwe@officer.thanet.gov.uk

CABINET
25 JULY 2019
A meeting of the Cabinet will be held at 7.00 pm on Thursday, 25 July 2019 in the Council
Chamber, Council Offices, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent.
Membership:
Councillor R Bayford (Chairman); Councillors: Ashbee, Game, Pugh and D Saunders
AGENDA
Item
No

Subject

1.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Pages 3 - 4)
To receive any declarations of interest. Members are advised to consider the advice
contained within the Declaration of Interest advice attached to this Agenda. If a Member
declares an interest, they should complete the Declaration of Interest Form

3.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 5 - 6)
To approve the summary of recommendations and decisions of the Cabinet meeting held
on 13 June2019, copy attached.

4.

CABINET RESPONSE TO THE PETITION ON THE BUDGET (Pages 7 - 16)

5.

CORPORATE STATEMENT (Pages 17 - 24)

6.

BROADSTAIRS & ST PETERS DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN (Pages 25 - 34)

7.

MONITORING OFFICER'S REPORT - EAST KENT HOUSING (Pages 35 - 40)

8.

RESPONSE TO MONITORING OFFICER'S REPORT - GAS SAFETY CERTIFICATES
(Pages 41 - 52)

9.

ADOPTION OF A NEW HOUSING ASSISTANCE POLICY (Pages 53 - 90)

10.

ENABLING THE DELIVERY OF HOMES TO MEET THE NEEDS OF LOCAL PEOPLE
(Pages 91 - 102)

Thanet District Council, PO Box 9, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent, CT9 1XZ
Tel: +44 (0)1843 577000
Fax: +44 (0)1843 290906
DX 30555 (Margate)
www.thanet.gov.uk
Chief Executive: Madeline Homer

Page 1

Item
No

Subject

Please scan this barcode for an electronic copy of this agenda.

Page 2

Agenda Item 2

Do I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and if so what action should I take?
Your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) are those interests that are, or should be, listed on your
Register of Interest Form.
If you are at a meeting and the subject relating to one of your DPIs is to be discussed, in so far as you
are aware of the DPI, you must declare the existence and explain the nature of the DPI during the
declarations of interest agenda item, at the commencement of the item under discussion, or when the
interest has become apparent
Once you have declared that you have a DPI (unless you have been granted a dispensation by the
Standards Committee or the Monitoring Officer, for which you will have applied to the Monitoring
Officer prior to the meeting) you must:1.
2.
3.

Not speak or vote on the matter;
Withdraw from the meeting room during the consideration of the matter;
Not seek to improperly influence the decision on the matter.

Do I have a significant interest and if so what action should I take?
A significant interest is an interest (other than a DPI or an interest in an Authority Function) which:
1.
2.

Affects the financial position of yourself and/or an associated person; or
Relates to the determination of your application for any approval, consent, licence, permission or
registration made by, or on your behalf of, you and/or an associated person;
And which, in either case, a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would
reasonably regard as being so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgment of the public
interest.

An associated person is defined as:
● A family member or any other person with whom you have a close association, including your
spouse, civil partner, or somebody with whom you are living as a husband or wife, or as if you are
civil partners; or
● Any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in which they are a
partner, or any company of which they are directors; or
● Any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class of securities
exceeding the nominal value of £25,000;
● Any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are
appointed or nominated by the Authority; or
● any body in respect of which you are in a position of general control or management and which:
- exercises functions of a public nature; or
- is directed to charitable purposes; or
- has as its principal purpose or one of its principal purposes the influence of public opinion or
policy (including any political party or trade union)
An Authority Function is defined as: ● Housing - where you are a tenant of the Council provided that those functions do not relate
particularly to your tenancy or lease; or
● Any allowance, payment or indemnity given to members of the Council;
● Any ceremonial honour given to members of the Council
● Setting the Council Tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992

Page 3

Agenda Item 2
If you are at a meeting and you think that you have a significant interest then you must
declare the existence and nature of the significant interest at the commencement of the
matter, or when the interest has become apparent, or the declarations of interest agenda
item.
Once you have declared that you have a significant interest (unless you have been granted a
dispensation by the Standards Committee or the Monitoring Officer, for which you will have applied to
the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting) you must:1.

2.
3.



Not speak or vote (unless the public have speaking rights, or you are present to make
representations, answer questions or to give evidence relating to the business being discussed in
which case you can speak only)
Withdraw from the meeting during consideration of the matter or immediately after speaking.
Not seek to improperly influence the decision.

Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality
Councillors must declare at meetings any gift, benefit or hospitality with an estimated value (or
cumulative value if a series of gifts etc.) of £25 or more. You must, at the commencement of the
meeting or when the interest becomes apparent, disclose the existence and nature of the gift, benefit or
hospitality, the identity of the donor and how the business under consideration relates to that person or
body. However you can stay in the meeting unless it constitutes a significant interest, in which case it
should be declared as outlined above.

What if I am unsure?
If you are in any doubt, Members are strongly advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or
the Committee Services Manager well in advance of the meeting.

If you need to declare an interest then please complete the declaration of interest form.

Page 4

Agenda Item 3
CABINET
Minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2019 at 7.00 pm in Council Chamber, Council
Offices, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent.

567.

Present:

Councillor Robert W Bayford (Chairman); Councillors Ashbee,
Game, Pugh and D Saunders

In Attendance:

Councillors Albon, Bailey, J Bayford, Campbell, Duckworth, Everitt,
L Piper, S Piper, Rawf, Rusiecki, M Saunders, Towning, Whitehead,
Wright and Yates

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies made at the meeting.

568.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.

569.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
Councillor Ashbee proposed, Councillor Game seconded and Members agreed the
minutes as a correct record of the meeting that was held on 14 March 2019.

570.

CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT QUARTER 4 2018-19
Members discussed the report on the corporate performance for the last quarter of
2018/19. They were advised that there was an overall improvement in performance. Of
the twenty nine targets, twenty were either at target or within five percent of target and
sixteen were reaching or exceeding the target.
The level of waste sent for recycling, the low level of graffiti on streets, reports on how
the council had dealt with anti social behaviour and the number of homelessness cases
prevented was at a corporate plan period high.
The development of a new corporate statement to cover the period ahead, will also lead
to new corporate objectives and performance targets being set for that same period.
Councillor Albon and Councillor Whitehead spoke under Council Procedure Rule 20.1:
Councillor D. Saunders proposed, Councillor Game seconded and Members noted the
Council’s performance for the period up to 31 March 2019.

571.

APPROACH TO THE CORPORATE BUSINESS PLANNING
Members considered the approach to be used when developing the new corporate
statement and its related core business objectives for the Council.
Cabinet agreed that the Overview & Scrutiny Panel will review the cabinet proposals
before they are presented to Full Council. Once adopted by Council, the core business
objectives would be translated into operational service plans for 2019/23. These
objectives would be monitored through the Council’s performance management
framework.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3
Councillor Bayford proposed, Councillor Game seconded and Cabinet noted the
approach.
572.

A NEW APPROACH TO SCRUTINY
Cabinet considered the proposals for a way of working between the executive and
scrutiny functions. The Leader of Council offered proposals that would include early and
regular engagement between cabinet and the scrutiny panel.
As part of the new arrangement regular meetings would be held between the Leader of
the Council and the Chairman of the Overview & Scrutiny Panel to discuss the cabinet’s
future work programme and identify potential topics for pre-decision scrutiny.
A ‘cabinet-scrutiny protocol’ to define the relationship between cabinet and scrutiny, will
be jointly developed by the Leader and Panel Chairman in order to create a positive and
effective relationship which recognises the key role of scrutiny as a ‘critical friend’ to the
executive.
The protocol would be developed through workshops with scrutiny and cabinet members,
and then presented to Cabinet and the Overview and Scrutiny Panel for adoption.
Councillor Campbell and Councillor Stuart Piper spoke under Council Procedure Rule
20.1.
Councillor Bayford proposed, Councillor Ashbee seconded and Cabinet noted the
intention to build a new formalised working relationship between the Cabinet and the
Overview and Scrutiny Panel which will include a new Cabinet-Scrutiny Protocol. This will
reflect their separate but complementary roles in the operation of the Council.

573.

FEES AND CHARGES DECISION MAKING PROCESS FOR 2020/21
The meeting was advised that in December 2018, Cabinet agreed in principle to an
Overview & Scrutiny Panel recommendation that a cross party cabinet advisory group be
set up to consider an approach for setting future fees and charges proposals. This
approach would add value to the budget setting process.
Councillor Campbell and Councillor Everitt spoke under Council Procedure Rule 20.1.
Councillor Bayford proposed, Councillor Ashbee seconded and Cabinet reviewed the
fees and charges approval process and to set up a Cabinet Advisory Group on fees and
charges, whose membership is as detailed below:
3 Conservative Members;
2 Labour Members;
1 Green Member;
1 Thanet Independents Member.

Meeting concluded: 7.30 pm

Page 6

Agenda Item 4
Cabinet Response to the Petition on the Budget
Cabinet

25 July 2019

Report Author

Chris Blundell, Head of Financial Services

Portfolio Holder

Cllr D. Saunders, Cabinet Member for Financial Services &
Estates

Status

For Decision

Classification:

Unrestricted

Key Decision

No

Ward:

District Wide

Executive Summary:
Petition Prayer Guide
We the residents of Thanet don't think it's appropriate for the Council to spend council
taxpayers money on the council offices, not the £3 million planned, not when services are
being cut. This money could be better spent.
The second issue is the continued selling off of our assets for short-term gain. Would it not be
better looking at using some of these assets for community assets run by the community and
in the long run save the Council money. Also letting community land trust turn some into
social housing which is desperately needed.
Recommendation(s):
The concerns are noted however the provisions in the budget report remain valid.

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS
Financial and
The capital programme is part-funded from capital receipts generated from
Value for
the sale of assets. These disposals are required to enable the continued
Money
investment in council assets.
Legal
Corporate
Review of assets forms part of the adopted policy and corporate aims.
The Council should not retain assets unless they provide value for money
or support the corporate aims and the asset approved for disposal have
been identified as underperforming for the Council.
Equality
Act Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector
2010 & Public Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to
Sector Equality the aims of the Duty at the time the decision is taken. The aims of the Duty
Duty
are: (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance equality of opportunity
between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do

Page 7

Agenda Item 4
not share it, and (iii) foster good relations between people who share a
protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Protected characteristics: age, sex, disability, race, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, religion or belief and pregnancy & maternity. Only
aim (i) of the Duty applies to Marriage & civil partnership.
Please indicate which aim is relevant to the report.
Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act,
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a X
protected characteristic and people who do not share it
Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and people who do not share it.
Investment in retained operational property is a requirement of the Equality
Duty where it improves accessibility for visitors and inclusive working
practices.

CORPORATE PRIORITIES (tick
those relevant)✓
A clean and welcoming
X
Environment
Promoting inward investment and
job creation
Supporting neighbourhoods

CORPORATE VALUES
those relevant)✓
Delivering value for money

(tick

Supporting the Workforce

X
X

Promoting open communications

1.0

Introduction and Background

1.1

Thanet Council is committed to a robust asset management strategy, to release
underperforming land and property in order to achieve the corporate aims.
Additionally, the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) requires secure income
and capital receipts.

1.2

To support these aims and strategies, there is an ongoing review of the corporate
portfolio to identify assets that are not meeting the corporate objectives and therefore
should be considered for disposal.

1.3

It is also necessary to ensure that the operational portfolio, including but not limited to
the office accommodation, is maintained to a level that continues to be reasonable
and inclusive, enabling visitors and staff to access and circulate within the buildings.

1.4

This report considers the petition prayer received and outlined in the executive
summary above.

Page 8

Agenda Item 4
2.0

The Current Situation

2.1

A £3m provision was included in the 2019/20 capital programme to ensure the
Council’s office accommodation remains suitable for use and as cost effective as
possible. The capital expenditure covers the acquisition or enhancement of the
council’s assets, as opposed to revenue expenditure which relates to day-to-day
service expenditure, for example officer salaries or repairs and maintenance.

2.2

There are a number of restrictions in the way in which both the revenue and capital
budgets can be and are financed. Fundamentally, the council is not allowed to use
borrowing or the proceeds from asset sales (capital receipts) to fund its on-going
revenue budgets. As such these sources of income are only available to fund the
capital programme.

2.3

The 2019/20 capital programme approved by Council in February 2019, determined
that any investment in the Council’s office accommodation would be funded from the
proceeds from past asset sales.

2.4

Therefore, these proceeds could not have been used in the 2019/20 revenue budget
and as such monies could not have been used to offset or reduce the savings
required, including service reductions, in order to balance the revenue budget.

2.5

The inclusion of the £3million provisional sum for operational property was to highlight
the requirement to address some of the problems with the Margate Office including
the Council Chamber, which is a publicly used space. The office, including the
Gateway, does require investment to make it more accessible to members of the
public and with the original roof, heating and wiring systems, lifts etc, it is necessary
to consider options. These include:* What is required to be spent on the existing property to bring it up to a
reasonable standard for the medium term?
* Are there alternative options, and if so what are they?
* Do any of the alternative options provide better value for money in the medium
term?
Further information is being collated to review all of the above options.

2.6

2.7

The progression of assets identified as surplus and therefore recommended for
disposal for a capital receipt and/or community asset transfer is not led by the drive to
achieve short term capital gain, but an understanding that property holdings cost
money to keep and maintain and with reduced government funding, there is a
requirement to reduce the size of the portfolio.
In terms of the assets the council holds there are many retained for various purposes
including:* Provision of amenity space, beaches, parks and playgrounds for
neighbourhoods.
* Community Halls operated by community groups.

Page 9

Agenda Item 4
* Social clubs such as bowls and tennis clubs to support social groups.
* Sports and Leisure facilities to promote health and wellbeing.
* Operational assets used to accommodate services which are required to
deliver local authority functions across the District.
* Investment property held to earn an income required to support service
provision and achieve a balanced budget.
2.7

The Asset Management Plan 2017 - 2021 acknowledges the requirement for a
strategic continuous review of the portfolio which includes identifying assets that are
no longer providing a good return for the council. For the investment portfolio the
return is a financial based decision but for property held for social reasons community
considerations are the priority.

2.8

Assets held on the community portfolio are reviewed in line with the Community Asset
Transfer Policy adopted in January 2018. The commitment to transfer assets for
community use has resulted in successful transfers and there are more opportunities
in the pipeline, see below.
Property transferred in 2017 - 2018 for Community Use:*
*
*
*
*

Pierremont Hall, Broadstairs;
Retort House, Broadstairs;
Charlotte Court, Ramsgate;
Forresters Hall, Ramsgate;
Shelters, Birchington.

Property approved by Cabinet to be progressed for transfer during 2019:*
*
*
*
*
*
2.9

The Ice House, Ramsgate;
Museums, Margate and Broadstairs;
Sports Pavilions, Margate;
Amenity Land, Birchington, Ramsgate and Margate;
Shelter, Margate;
Land and toilets, Minster.

The transfer of the above assets will ensure they are retained for community use.

Contact Officer:
Reporting to:

Chris Blundell, Head of Financial Services
Tim Willis, Deputy Chief Executive

Background Papers
Title
Details of where to access copy
Strategic Asset Management Plan https://www.thanet.gov.uk/services/land-and-assets
2017 - 2021
Community Asset Transfer 2018 - https://www.thanet.gov.uk/services/land-and-assets/
2021

Page 10

Agenda Item 4
Budget 2019 - 2020

https://democracy.thanet.gov.uk/documents/s62693/
Budget%202019-20%20report.pdf

Corporate Consultation
Finance
Legal

Chris Blundell, Head of Financial Services
Sophia Nartey, Interim Head of Legal Services

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1
PETITION REGARDING THE BUDGET
Council

28 March 2019

Report Author

Nick Hughes, Committee Services Manager and Deputy
Monitoring Officer

Portfolio Holder

Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Coastal
Development

Status

For recommendation

Classification:

Unrestricted

Key Decision

No

Ward:

Thanet Wide

Executive Summary:
A Epetition containing 37 valid signatures was received by the Council requesting that the
Council reconsider two points of the Budget set by the Council.
The report sets out how the Council deals with petitions of this size; it explains that the
petition organiser will present the petition to the meeting and sets out the next steps as to
how the Council will deal with the petition.

Recommendation(s):
Under the Council’s petitions scheme, Council is required to refer the petition to Cabinet
without debate for report back to Council.
CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS
Financial and
There are no identified financial implications from this report.
Value for
Money
Legal
This matter is dealt with under the Council’s scheme for dealing with
petitions from the public which is contained within the constitution.
Corporate

In accordance with the Council petition scheme if a petition has over 25,
but less than 650, signatories, it will be referred to Cabinet or an
appropriate committee without debate for report to Council within three
ordinary meetings.
Equalities Act Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector
2010 & Public Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to
Sector Equality the aims of the Duty at the time the decision is taken. The aims of the Duty
Duty
are: (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance equality of opportunity
between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do

Page 13

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1
not share it, and (iii) foster good relations between people who share a
protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Protected characteristics: age, gender, disability, race, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, religion or belief and pregnancy & maternity. Only
aim (i) of the Duty applies to Marriage & civil partnership.
Please indicate which aim is relevant to the report.
Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act,
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and people who do not share it
Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and people who do not share it.
There are no specific equity and equalities issues arising from this report.
However it is important to be aware of the Council’s responsibility under
the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and show evidence that due
consideration had been given to the equalities impact that may be brought
upon communities by the decisions made by Council.

CORPORATE PRIORITIES (tick
those relevant)✓
A clean and welcoming
Environment
Promoting inward investment and
job creation
Supporting neighbourhoods
✓

CORPORATE VALUES
those relevant)✓
Delivering value for money

(tick

Supporting the Workforce
Promoting open communications

✓

1.0

Introduction and Background

1.1

Under the terms of the Council’s petitions scheme, petitions may be presented at
ordinary meetings of Council; and if a petition has over 25, but less than 650,
signatories, it will be referred to Cabinet or an appropriate committee without debate
for report to Council within three ordinary meetings.

2.0

The Current Situation

2.1

A petition organised by John Finnegan has been validly signed by 37 persons. The
petition prayer reads:
“We the undersigned petition the council to reconsider two points of the Budget set by
the Council”

2.2

The petition organiser is entitled to present their petition to Council, and in
accordance with the Council petition scheme has three minutes to present the
petition.

2.3

Mr Finnegan has informed the Council that he will be in attendance to present the
petition.

Page 14

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1
3.0

Next Steps

3.1

Under the Council’s petitions scheme, Council is required to refer the petition to
Cabinet for report back to Council within three ordinary meetings.

Contact Officer:
Reporting to:

Nick Hughes, Committee Services Manager (7208)
Tim Howes, Director of Corporate Governance

Annex List
None

N/A

Background Papers
Title
None

Details of where to access copy
N/A

Corporate Consultation
Finance
Legal

Matt Sanham, Interim Head of Financial services and Procurement
Tim Howes, Director of Corporate Governance and Monitoring Officer

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Corporate Statement
Cabinet

25 July 2019

Report Author

Chief Executive

Portfolio Holder

Cllr Robert Bayford - Leader of the Council

Status

For Decision

Classification:

Unrestricted

Key Decision

Yes - Budget and Policy Framework Document

Ward:

Whole District

Executive Summary:
This report details the Council’s proposed new Corporate Statement and supporting Core
Business Objectives for the 4-year term of 2019-2023.

Recommendation(s):
Cabinet recommends the proposed new Corporate Statement and supporting Core Business
Objectives for the 4-year term of 2019-2023 (with any amendments) to be presented to the
Overview and Scrutiny Panel with any representations being referred to Cabinet before
submission to Council for final approval.

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS
Financial and
The detailed objectives within the Core Business Objectives will need to
Value for
be deliverable in line with the Council’s budget and Medium Term
Money
Financial Strategy.
Legal

The Constitution requires that the Council’s Corporate Statement be
adopted by Full Council in accordance with the Budget and Policy
Framework Procedure Rules.

Corporate

The Council is responsible for a wide range of statutory and discretionary
services and through the proposed new Core Business Objectives it will
take an outcome focussed approach to find the right way to deliver its
services.

Equality
Act
2010 & Public
Sector Equality
Duty

Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector
Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to
the aims of the Duty at the time the decision is taken. The aims of the Duty
are: (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance equality of opportunity
between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do

Page 17

Agenda Item 5
not share it, and (iii) foster good relations between people who share a
protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Protected characteristics: age, sex, disability, race, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, religion or belief and pregnancy & maternity. Only
aim (i) of the Duty applies to Marriage & civil partnership.
Please indicate which aim is relevant to the report.
Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act,
X
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and people who do not share it
Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and people who do not share it.
An initial Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken and there is
no reason to state at this time that the content of the proposed Core
Business Objectives will negatively impact on any groups with protected
characteristics. The Core Business Objectives focus on improving the
quality of life in Thanet for all. Opportunities to further the aims of the Duty
will be investigated during equality impact analysis of individual projects,
plans and strategies arising from the priorities.
If the proposed Core Business Objectives are approved the Equalities
Impact Assessment will be updated following the Overview and Scrutiny
Panel, to ensure that the Core Business Objectives address the needs of
all Thanet’s diverse community.

1.

Introduction and Background

1.1. The Council’s previous Corporate Plan was published in 2015 and covers the period
of 2015 – March 2019.
1.2. Since the publication of the 2015-19 Corporate Plan, the Council has faced and
continues to face significant challenges, it is considered timely to reset the Council’s
Corporate Statement and supporting Core Business Objectives for the next four
years.
2.

The Current Situation

2.1. The Council’s proposed new Corporate Statement and supporting Core Business
Objectives set out the direction of travel for the Council over the next four years laying
the strong foundations that will benefit, shape and grow the district.
2.2. The Council is aware that the communities in Thanet are changing and there are
increasing demands for local services. At the same time, the Council is also aware of
the many challenges facing local people and businesses. Therefore, the Council has
set its Core Business Objectives to enable it to plan for the changing needs and to
meet the increasing financial challenge ahead as core government grant funding is
reduced to nil by 2020.

Page 18

Agenda Item 5

2.3. By taking this approach, the Council’s resources will be focused on what matters the
most, service delivery will be strengthened and both staff and partners will all be
working towards a common goal of - ensuring prosperity and improved quality of life
for our residents and the business community.
2.4. The largest challenge the Council faces over the next four years is to deliver further
improvements to its services with reduced funding and resources. This will require the
Council to work with its partners and residents to minimise the impact of the challenge
ahead and manage the expectations on the Council within its limited resources.
2.5. The proposed Core Business Objectives set out in Annex 1 will be delivered through
focused operational service plans, supported by more detailed plans and strategies
which set out service specific projects, actions and targets.
3.

Options

3.1. To recommend the proposed new Corporate Statement and supporting Core
Business Objectives for the 4-year term of 2019-2023 detailed in Annex 1.
3.2. To amend and recommend the proposed new Corporate Statement and supporting
Core Business Objectives for the 4-year term of 2019-2023 detailed in Annex 1.
3.3. To reject the proposed new Corporate Statement and supporting Core Business
Objectives for the 4-year term of 2019-2023.
4.

Next Steps

4.1. This is a Policy Framework document to go to Full Council and is subject to the
Council's Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules, which provides the
Overview and Scrutiny Panel with an opportunity to comment on the draft proposals
before they are finalised by Cabinet and submitted to Full Council.
4.2. Following the Overview and Scrutiny Panel, the final version will be presented back to
Cabinet requesting a recommendation to Full Council for final adoption.
4.3. If approved by Full Council the Core Business Objectives will be translated directly
into the operational Service Plans for 2019-23. This will enable each Core Business
Objective to be monitored through the Council’s Performance Management
Framework.
Decision Making Process

Date

Members Briefing
Overview and Scrutiny Panel
Cabinet
Full Council

30 July 2019
29 August 2019
19 September 2019
10 October 2019

Page 19

Agenda Item 5

Contact Officer:
Reporting to:

Carol Cook, Policy Officer
Madeline Homer, Chief Executive

Annex List
Annex 1

Proposed new Corporate Statement and supporting Core Business
Objectives 2019-2023

Background Papers
Title
Draft Equalities Impact Assessment
Approach to Corporate Business
Planning - Cabinet 13 June 2019

Details of where to access a copy
Carol.cook@thanet.gov.uk
https://democracy.thanet.gov.uk/documents/s644
19/Approach%20to%20Corporate%20Business
%20Planning.pdf

Corporate Consultation
Finance
Legal

Chris Blundell, Head of Financial Services
Tim Howes, Director of Corporate Governance

Page 20

Annex 1

Corporate Statement
The Council’s Core Business Objectives set out the direction of
travel for the Council over the next four years laying the strong
foundations that will benefit, shape and grow the district.
In 2018, residents told us that clean streets, feeling safe and
thriving towns were important to them and the Core Business
Objectives address each of these top topics from the 2018
resident’s survey.

By taking this approach, the Council’s resources will be focused on
what matters the most, service delivery will be strengthened and
both staff and partners will all be working towards a common goal of
- ensuring prosperity and improved quality of life for our residents
and the business community.

The Council is aware that the communities in Thanet are changing
and there are increasing demands for local services. At the same
time, the Council is also aware of the many challenges facing local
people and businesses. Therefore, the Council will set its Core
Business Objectives to enable it to plan for the changing needs and
to meet the increasing financial challenges ahead as core
government grant funding is reduced to nil by 2020.

Agenda Item 5

Annex 1

Page 21
1/4

Annex 1

Growth
We will continue to ensure we work to consider new ways to
generate income and invest our current resources. Delivering a
Council that is financially strong to discharge its services and invest
in the growth of the District.

Agenda Item 5

2/4

Annex 1

Page 22

What we plan to do:
● Encourage local enterprise and inward investment.
● Be a strong voice for Thanet at the Kent and Medway
Economic Partnership.
● Contribute to the creation of a Coastal Prospectus which will
complement the Regional Industrial Strategy.
● Open up access for business from London by the support for
Parkway Station and other infrastructure improvements.
● Continue to look for a viable future for the Port of Ramsgate
and the Royal Harbour.
● Refresh the Council’s Economic Development Strategy.
● Maximise the return on our assets.
● Encourage the rejuvenation of our high streets by supporting
the growth of our creative industries.
● We will further support the regeneration of our High Streets by
working with Partners.
● Continue to promote tourism in Thanet and the increase in
jobs that this will bring to the District.

Annex 1

Environment
Having a clean and well-maintained environment remains important
to us. We will be clear with our residents on what we will do and
what our asks of residents are - cultivating a shared responsibility
approach. Delivering a clean and accessible living environment,
maintaining an emphasis on prevention but where necessary we will
use an enforcement approach.

Agenda Item 5

3/4

Annex 1

Page 23

What we plan to do:
● Undertake a full and thorough review of our public toilet
facilities including providing incentives for businesses to make
good quality facilities available to the public.
● Maintain strong enforcement action in the areas of planning,
building control and parking. Strengthening our already tough
response to fly-tipping and maintaining the zero-tolerance
policy towards littering.
● Continue the education programmes in schools and the wider
public areas to cultivate a shared responsibility approach to
waste and littering.
● Maximise the use of smart bins to further improve the
efficiency of emptying schedules.
● Extend the use of mechanical street sweeping equipment.
● Protect and enhance where possible our parks, beaches and
open spaces for the benefit of current and future residents.
● Continue to progress the Local Plan to adoption.
● Work to reduce our carbon footprint and promote awareness
of our local wildlife, habitats and the wider environment.

Annex 1

Communities
Through effective partnership working with both the public sector
agencies and the community, we will provide leadership and
direction across the district and the region to ensure everyone is
working to the same goal. Delivering high-quality housing, safer
communities and enhancing the health and wellbeing of our
residents.

Agenda Item 5

4/4

Annex 1

Page 24

What we plan to do:
● Plan to set up a housing development company, to work
towards building the necessary good quality housing to meet
the needs of existing and future communities.
● Improve standards and safety in homes across all tenures.
● Work to prevent homelessness and increase housing options.
● Aim to reduce the number of rough sleepers on our streets.
● Work with our partners to deliver a range of community safety
initiatives across the District, taking tough action to tackle
anti-social behaviour.
● Work in partnership with the community and Public Sector
Agencies to seek new ways of working to improve or jointly
deliver services.
● Work with the Boundary Commission in respect of
representation on the Council.
● Promote the formation of a Margate Town Council to devolve
decision making to a local level.
● Work with Town and Parish Councils, exploring the potential
for devolving services where possible.

Agenda Item 6
BROADSTAIRS & ST.PETERS
DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Cabinet

25th July 2019

Report Author

Tim Willis, Deputy Chief Executive

Portfolio Holder
Status

For Decision

Classification:

Unrestricted

Key Decision

No - Policy Framework

Reasons for Key

N/A

Ward:

Beacon Road, Kingsgate, Bradstowe, St Peters, Viking

Executive Summary:
Under the Localism Act 2011, Neighbourhood plans can be prepared by local communities
and are led by Town or Parish Councils or a Neighbourhood Forum in areas which do not
have a Town or Parish Council. If Thanet Council adopt a neighbourhood plan it would have
the same significance as other Development Plan Documents (eg the Local Plan) for the
district.
On 18th June 2015 Cabinet resolved to approve a neighbourhood plan area for Broadstairs &
St Peters in order that the Town Council could prepare a neighbourhood plan for that area.
Since then, Broadstairs & St Peters Town Council have prepared a neighbourhood plan. It
has been formally submitted to the Council and examined by an independent Examiner. The
Council has received the Examiners report which includes recommendations for
modifications to the neighbourhood plan, and recommends that it be subject to a referendum.
The Council now has to issue a Decision Statement as to whether or not it accepts the
recommendations in the Examiners report, and, if not, what actions would be necessary. The
Council also has to consider whether the draft Plan meets the “basic conditions” for a
Neighbourhood Plan.
This report sets out relevant issues in the Examiners report for Cabinet’s decision which will
also form the basis of the Decision Statement.

Recommendation(s):
That the draft Neighbourhood Plan be modified as set out in this report, and that the proposed
modifications be the subject of public consultation for a period of six weeks.

Page 25

Agenda Item 6
CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS
Financial and
Consultation costs only associated with this report, which will be met from
Value for
existing budgets.
Money
Legal
National legislation and national policies apply.
Corporate

It is important that the Local Planning authority consider the Examiner’s
recommendations and the “basic conditions” fully, as the decision on the
draft Neighbourhood Plan may be subject to Judicial Review.

Equality
Act
2010 & Public
Sector Equality
Duty

Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector
Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to
the aims of the Duty at the time the decision is taken. The aims of the Duty
are: (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance equality of opportunity
between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do
not share it, and (iii) foster good relations between people who share a
protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Protected characteristics: age, sex, disability, race, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, religion or belief and pregnancy & maternity. Only
aim (i) of the Duty applies to Marriage & civil partnership.
Please indicate which aim is relevant to the report.
Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act,
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and people who do not share it
Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and people who do not share it.
The Local Planning Authority’s role in the Neighbourhood Plan process
does not engage the PSED.

CORPORATE PRIORITIES (tick
those relevant)✓
A clean and welcoming
✓
Environment
Promoting inward investment and
job creation
Supporting neighbourhoods
✓

CORPORATE VALUES
those relevant)✓
Delivering value for money

(tick

Supporting the Workforce
Promoting open communications

✓

1.0

Introduction and Background

1.1

Broadstairs & St Peters Town Council have been progressing their Neighbourhood
Plan. Part of the Neighbourhood Planning process is for the draft plan to be examined
by an independent examiner to test whether or not the draft plan meets the ‘basic
conditions’ and other procedural matters. The Plan was submitted to an Independent
Examiner in March 2019, and the Council and the Town Council received the
Examiners report on 14th June.

Page 26

Agenda Item 6

1.2

Thanet Council now has to take a decision, and publish that decision, on whether or
not to accept the Examiners report and recommendations and send the draft
neighbourhood plan to referendum. This is the first stage in the Neighbourhood Plan
process that the local authority formally assesses a neighbourhood plan. This should
be carried out within 5 weeks of receiving the report (5 week deadline being 19th
July).

1.3

It is considered that the draft Neighbourhood Plan and the Examiner’s
recommendations are generally acceptable, and TDC Officers have supported the
preparation of the draft NP (for example, with policy advice, and in carrying out the
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) scoping exercise required). However,
officers have concerns about some of the allocations proposed in the neighbourhood
plan for Local Green Spaces.

1.4

One of the ‘basic conditions’ is that a draft neighbourhood plan should be in general
conformity, and not conflict with, national planning policy or local plan policies. It is
considered that some of the Local Green Spaces (LGS) proposed do not meet the
criteria for designation as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).
As part of the council’s consultation on the Proposed Revisions to the draft Local Plan
(Preferred Options) in 2017, the council invited proposals for sites to be considered
as Local Green Spaces for inclusion in the Local Plan. Some of the sites now being
proposed in the neighbourhood plan were also submitted at this stage, but were not
allocated in the Local Plan as they did not meet the designation criteria. It is
considered that their allocation in the neighbourhood plan would therefore conflict
with the Local Plan LGS allocations as they have already been considered unsuitable
for designation.

2.0

The Current Situation

2.1

The Neighbourhood Plan process is outlined below (as set out in the Councils
Statement of Community Involvement):

The Neighbourhood Planning Process

Make application for designation of a Neighbourhood Area

The Community must

Apply to the Council to designate a Neighbourhood Area,
setting out a plan or statement identifying the land it covers,
and a statement explaining why it should be designated

The Council must

Publicise the application, allow 6 weeks from the date it is
first publicised for representations to the application, and
detail how these can be made

Neighbourhood Development Plans

Page 27

Agenda Item 6
The Community must

Prepare their plan and gather evidence to justify it. Publicise
the proposal, carry out at least 6 week consultation period,
consult relevant statutory consultees,

The Council must

The Council has a duty to support the community in
preparing a Neighbourhood Plan, and will share any relevant
evidence it holds to justify the proposals.

The Community must

Submit draft to the Council and include a plan or statement
showing the area covered, consultation statement, written
statement showing how it meets requirements of Schedule
4b of 1990 Town and Country Planning Act

The Council must

Publicise the proposal, allow 6 weeks for representation from
the date the proposal is publicised and give details of how
responses and representations can be made.
Representations received will be considered by the Examiner

***The Council must***

Appoint an Examiner and send relevant documents and
representations. The Examiner will send a report which is
not binding. ***The Council will then decide if the Plan can
be made.***

The Council must

Carry out a referendum in the relevant neighbourhood area.
If 51% or more of those who vote are in favour of the plan,
the Council must make that plan.

The Council must

Publish its decision on the website along with a statement of
reasons for the decision and details of where they can be
inspected.

The Council must

Once a plan has been made, publish the plan on the website
along with details of where it is available

*** The current stage of the Broadstairs & St Peters Neighbourhood Plan is asterisked in the
above table for ease of reference.

Neighbourhood Plan Examination
2.2

The role of the Examiner is to recommend either:
(a) that the neighbourhood plan is submitted to a referendum without changes; or
(b) that modifications are made and that the modified neighbourhood plan is
submitted to a referendum; or
(c) that the neighbourhood plan does not proceed to a referendum on the basis that it
does not meet the necessary legal requirements.

2.3

The scope of the examination is set out in Paragraph 8(1) of Schedule 4B to the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) (‘the 1990 Act’). The examiner must
consider:

Page 28

Agenda Item 6
●
●

Whether the plan meets the Basic Conditions;
Whether the plan complies with provisions under s.38A and s.38B of the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) (‘the 2004 Act’). These are:
○ it has been prepared and submitted for examination by a qualifying body, for
an area that has been properly designated by the local planning authority;
○ it sets out policies in relation to the development and use of land;
○ it specifies the period during which it has effect;
○ it does not include provisions and policies for ‘excluded development’;
○ it is the only neighbourhood plan for the area and does not relate to land
outside the designated neighbourhood area;
○ whether the referendum boundary should be extended beyond the designated
area, should the plan proceed to referendum;
and;
● Such matters as prescribed in the Neighbourhood Planning (General)
Regulations 2012 (as amended) (‘the 2012 Regulations’).
2.4

The ‘Basic Conditions’ are set out in Paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act.
In order to meet the Basic Conditions, the neighbourhood plan must:
● have regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the
Secretary of State;
● contribute to the achievement of sustainable development;
● be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan for
the area;
● be compatible with and not breach European Union (EU) obligations;
and;
● meet prescribed conditions and comply with prescribed matters.

2.5

It is at this point in the process (and the first formal point in the process) that the
Council must come to a formal view about whether the draft neighbourhood plan
meets the basic conditions. Regulation 18 of the Neighbourhood Planning
Regulations 2012 (as amended), and Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 require the local authority to propose any necessary modifications to a
neighbourhood plan in order that it can meet the Basic Conditions.

2.6

The draft Neighbourhood Plan is generally supported - it has been positively
prepared, and includes policies that generally conform with the emerging Local Plan.
It is encouraging to see that the Town Council has included policies which would be
too detailed or too specific for the Local Plan, and has a good evidence base to
support them. For example, Important Views and Vistas and Seafront Character
Zones identify particular local views and characteristics that are important to small
specific areas. The neighbourhood plan also includes a policy for Areas of High
Townscape Value - this policy is in the 2006 adopted local plan but was not carried
forward in the emerging local plan as the Council did not have a sufficient evidence
base to justify them on a district wide basis, whereas the Town Council can do so on
a neighbourhood plan basis.

2.7

However, It is considered that the draft neighbourhood plan does not currently meet
the basic conditions because some of the proposed Local Green Spaces do not meet
the criteria set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and are not in
general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan for the area
(emerging Thanet Local Plan).

Page 29

Agenda Item 6
2.8

The NPPF states that policies for managing development within sites designated as
Local Green Spaces should be consistent with those for Green Belts (para 101) - the
NPPF states that ‘Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green
Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances’ (para 143).

2.9

The NPPF also sets criteria for the designation of Local Green Spaces (para 100):
‘The Local Green Space designation should only be used where the green space
is:
(a) in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves;
(b) demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local
significance, for example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational
value (including as a playing field), tranquillity or richness of its wildlife; and
(c) local in character and is not an extensive tract of land.’

2.10

Proposed LGS sites were submitted to the Council during the Preferred Options
Revisions consultation (20th January - 17th March 2017). Broadstairs Town Council
have also assessed proposed LGS sites submitted during their consultation to include
in their neighbourhood plan. The assessment criteria set out in the NPPF applies to
LGS regardless of whether they are assessed and allocated in a Local Plan or a
neighbourhood plan.

2.11

The BSNP allocates the following as Local Green Spaces under policy BSP5:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

2.12

Alderney Gardens
Colburn Road Estate
Culmers Amenity Land
Dumpton Park Drive
Fairfield Road/Rumfields Road
Fair Street/Royal Close
Hereson Road
Hornet Close
Kingfisher Walk
Kitty’s Green
Ramsgate Road
Reading Street
St Peter’s Village Green
Salts Drive
Selwyn Drive
The Maples
Victoria Parade & Nuckell’s Gardens
Vincent Close, also known as Northwood Park

Of these sites, four were submitted to the Council during the Local Plan consultation.
Culmer’s Amenity Land and Kitty’s Green were submitted and included for allocation
in the Local Plan as Local Green Spaces.

Page 30

Agenda Item 6
2.13

Fairfield Road/Rumfields Road was submitted under a slightly different name of
‘Cross-roads of Fairfield Road and Bromstone Road’. The Council did not include this
site for allocation in the Local Plan as a Local Green Space for the following reason:
‘Possibly highway land on a busy roundabout. Site does not meet the NPPF criteria
for designation’.

2.14

Reading Street was also submitted and was not included in the Local Plan for the
following reason: ‘Site is part of the grass verge adjacent to the highway. Site does
not meet the NPPF criteria for designation’

Page 31

Agenda Item 6

2.15

Because these two sites have been considered inappropriate for designation in the
Local Plan, their designation in the neighbourhood plan would also not be considered
appropriate, would not be in general conformity with the emerging Local Plan, so
would fail the Basic conditions.

2.16

It is therefore recommended that Fairfield Road/Rumfields Road and Reading Street
are removed from the Local Green Space designations in the Broadstairs & St Peters
Neighbourhood Plan.

3.0

Options

3.1

Option 1 (Recommended) - That Cabinet decide (under Reg 18 c and d of the
Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012) to propose modifications to the St Peters
and Broadstairs Neighbourhood Plan, removing the Fairfield Road/Rumfields Road
and Reading Street Local Green Space designations. This would form the Council’s
Decision Statement which would be published on the Councils website. The Decision
Statement will refuse the neighbourhood plan proposal on the basis that it does not
meet the Basic Conditions. It will also propose the above modification to make the
plan meet the Basic Conditions. The Council will then carry out a public consultation
on the proposed modification.

3.2

Option 2 (not Recommended) - that the Proposed modifications are not taken
forward. This could potentially leave the decision open to Judicial Review, if it is
considered that the proposed modifications are necessary to ensure that the draft
Plan meets the “basic conditions”.

Page 32

Agenda Item 6
4.0

Next Steps

4.1

If the recommendations in this report are accepted by Cabinet, the Proposed
Modifications would need to be the subject of public consultation for a period of six
weeks.

Contact Officer:
Reporting to:

Adrian Verral, Strategic Planning Manager
Bob Porter, Head of Housing & Planning

Annex List
None

N/A

Background Papers
Title
Draft Broadstairs and St Peter’s
Neighbourhood Plan
Examiner’s report

Details of where to access copy
https://www.broadstairs.gov.uk/_UserFiles/Files/Neighbo
urhoodPlan/Regulation%2016%20NDP-compressed.pdf
https://www.broadstairs.gov.uk/_UserFiles/Files/Neighbo
urhoodPlan/Final%20Examiners%20Report.pdf

Corporate Consultation
Finance
Legal

Matthew Sanham, Financial Services Manager
Tim Howes, Director of Corporate Governance

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
MONITORING OFFICER’S REPORT - FAILURE TO HAVE IN
PLACE VALID GAS SAFETY RECORDS IN RESPECT OF
COUNCIL DWELLINGS AS REQUIRED BY REGULATION 36
OF THE GAS SAFETY (INSTALLATION AND USE)
REGULATIONS 1998
Cabinet

25 July 2019

Report Author

Director of Corporate Governance and Monitoring
Monitoring Officer

Status

For Decision

Classification:

Unrestricted

Ward:

All

Executive Summary:
This report relates to a breach by the executive of Regulation 36 of the Gas Safety
(Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 which places a duty upon a landlord to have a gas
safety check undertaken on an annual basis on appliances and flues to which the regulations
apply.

Recommendation(s):
Cabinet is required by law:
1. To consider this report at the meeting on the 25 July 2019
2. As soon as practicable, after the cabinet has concluded its consideration of this report, to
prepare a report which specifies—
(a)
(b)
(c)

what action (if any) the cabinet has taken in response to this report;
what action (if any) the cabinet proposes to take in response to this report and
when it proposes to take that action; and
the reasons for taking the action specified in the cabinet’s report or, as the case
may be, for taking no action.

(To assist with recommendation (2) a report with a management response has been prepared
and is also on this agenda for consideration and adoption by cabinet as their report in
response to the Monitoring Officer’s report.)
3. As soon as practicable after the cabinet has prepared its report in accordance with
paragraph 2 above, to arrange for a copy of it to be sent to each member of the Council
and the Council’s Monitoring Officer.

Page 35

Agenda Item 7
CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS
Financial and
The financial and value for money implications resulting from this report
Value for
will be set out in the management response to this report.
Money
Legal
Where it appears to the Council’s Monitoring Officer that any omission, in
the course of the discharge of functions of the council, by or on behalf of
the executive, constitutes, has given rise to or is likely to or would give rise
to a contravention, by the relevant authority's executive or any person on
behalf of the executive, of any enactment or rule of law with respect to that
omission, he or she is required by law to prepare a report to the executive.
The relevant statutory provisions are to be found in section 5A Local
Government and Housing Act 1989.
Cabinet is required by law to
(a) consider this report at a meeting held not more than twenty-one
days after copies of the report are first sent to members of the
executive, and
(b) As soon as practicable after the executive has concluded its
consideration of the report of the monitoring officer the executive
shall prepare a report which specifies: (i)
what action (if any) the executive has taken in response to
the report of the monitoring officer or his deputy;
(ii)
what action (if any) the executive proposes to take in
response to that report and when it proposes to take that
action; and
(iii)
the reasons for taking the action specified in the executive’s
report or, as the case may be, for taking no action.
(c) As soon as practicable after the executive has prepared a report,
the executive shall arrange for a copy of it to be sent to each
member of the authority and the authority’s Monitoring Officer.
Corporate

The management response to this report is on the agenda to this meeting
and sets out the corporate issues in relation to this matter.
Equality
Act Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector
2010 & Public Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to
Sector Equality the aims of the Duty at the time the decision is taken. The aims of the Duty
Duty
are: (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance equality of opportunity
between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do
not share it, and (iii) foster good relations between people who share a
protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Protected characteristics: age, sex, disability, race, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, religion or belief and pregnancy & maternity. Only
aim (i) of the Duty applies to Marriage & civil partnership.
Please indicate which aim is relevant to the report.
Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act,
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and people who do not share it

Page 36

Agenda Item 7
Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and people who do not share it.
There are no equality issues arising directly from this report.
CORPORATE PRIORITIES (tick
those relevant)✓
A clean and welcoming
X
Environment
Promoting inward investment and
job creation
Supporting neighbourhoods
X

CORPORATE VALUES
those relevant)✓
Delivering value for money

(tick

Supporting the Workforce
Promoting open communications

X

1.0

Introduction and Background

1.1

Where it appears to the Council’s Monitoring Officer that any omission, in the
course of the discharge of functions of the council, by or on behalf of the executive,
constitutes, has given rise to or is likely to or would give rise to a contravention, by
the relevant authority's executive or any person on behalf of the executive, of any
enactment or rule of law with respect to that omission, he or she is required by law
to prepare a report to the executive. The relevant statutory provisions are to be
found in section 5A Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

1.2

Where the Monitoring Officer has prepared a report in the discharge of his duties
under section 5A, the executive is required to consider it at a formal meeting and to
respond to it in accordance with the requirements set out in paragraph 4 of this
report. A report setting out the management response has been prepared and is
included on the agenda of the cabinet on the 25 July 2019 this will form a draft for the
response from the executive.

1.3

Regulation 36 of the Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 places a
duty upon a landlord to have a gas safety check undertaken on an annual basis on
appliances and flues to which the regulations apply. Further a record of that
inspection must be kept and retained in accordance with the requirements of the
regulations. This is commonly referred to as a gas safety certificate.

1.4

Since March 2019 the Council has a number of dwellings forming part of its housing
stock let in respect of which gas safety checks have not been carried out in
contravention of the requirements of Regulation 36.

1.5

The Council’s housing management function is a function of the executive of the
Council, hence this report is prepared for consideration by the cabinet in
accordance with section 5A Local Government and Housing Act 1989. A copy of
this report is also being sent to all members of the Council in accordance with the
requirements of that section of the Act.

1.6

This report has been prepared by the Council’s Monitoring Officer in the discharge of
his duty under section 5A Local Government and Housing Act 1989 in view of the fact
that gas safety checks have apparently not been carried out in respect of a number of
council let properties in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 36 of the Gas
Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998

Page 37

Agenda Item 7
2.0

Gas Safety Records

2.1

Regulation 36 of the Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 requires
the Council as the landlord of premises occupied for residential purposes to have
annual gas safety inspections of those premises undertaken and to hold records of
those inspections. These records are what are commonly referred to as gas safety
certificates.

2.2

The Council discharges the requirement to have up to date gas safety certificates in
place by having a contract with an external contractor. That contract is managed on
the Council’s behalf by East Kent Housing. East Kent Housing manages similar
contracts on behalf of Canterbury City Council, Folkestone & Hythe District Council
and Dover District Council in respect of their housing stock. This report is however
solely concerned with the situation in relation to properties let by Thanet District
Council.

2.3

The East Kent Housing quarterly performance reports show low levels of
outstanding gas safety certificates for Council owned properties in the Thanet
District in the financial year 2018/2019. Assurances were received by the Council
from East Kent Housing that outstanding gas safety certificates were being actively
addressed.

2.4

The low level of outstanding certificates was maintained up to the end of March
2019.

2.5

It is acknowledged that in the case of a landlord having a large number of
properties it is virtually inevitable that there will be occasions when a small number
of properties do not have a valid gas safety certificate. This arises for a variety of
reasons, one of the most common being the lack of cooperation of some tenant
occupiers to arrange for access by contractors to their homes. Such a situation
would not engage the duty of the Monitoring Officer to prepare a report.

2.6

The situation deteriorated from April 2019 such that as at 24 May 2019 there were
approximately 130 Thanet District Council properties in occupation without the
benefit of gas safety certificates. Although undeniably a large number, this should
be viewed within the context of the Council’s total housing stock which is in excess
of 3,000 dwellings.

2.7

Gas safety certificates fall due for renewal on different dates. About 50 dwellings fall
due for inspection each week. There is therefore a need to inspect properties as
their certificates become due for renewal as well as clear the backlog of overdue
certificates.

2.8

It is emphasised that the lack of a gas safety certificate in respect of a property
does not imply that the gas appliances within that property are faulty or unsafe in
any way.

2.9

It is beyond the scope of this report to consider how this situation has arisen.
However, it should be noted that the timing of what has been a rapid decline in the
number of gas safety inspections completed has coincided with the Council’s
contractor giving contractual notice to exit its contract with the Council.

Page 38

Agenda Item 7
3.0

Regulatory and Legal Implications

3.1

A contravention of the requirement to have in place a required gas safety certificate
in respect of any particular property is potentially a criminal offence under the
Health & Safety at Work etc. Act 1974. However, a statutory defence is potentially
available under Regulation 39 of the Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations
1998 where a person can show that he took all reasonable steps to prevent the
contravention. It is not necessary or appropriate for this report to consider whether
criminal offences have been committed in this instance, particularly in
circumstances where the Health & Safety Executive (who are aware of the
situation) have not indicated whether they intend to undertake a full investigation.

4.0

Recent Developments

4.1

The failures in connection with LGSRs have raised questions about the reliability of
data and the performance of EKH in other areas of statutory compliance such as
electrical certification, lifts, fire safety and legionella testing. These functions are
currently being audited by EKAP, and initially findings are revealing that there are
failings in these areas too.

4.2

These matters may also have given rise to, or are likely to, or would give rise to
to a contravention, by the council’s executive or any person on behalf of the
executive, of any enactment or rule of law. However it is not possible to be
definitive on these points at this stage. Those issues may have to be the subject of
further reports.

5.0

Consultation Statement

5.1

The Councils Head of Paid Service (the Chief Executive) and Chief Finance Officer
(The Deputy Chief Executive) have been consulted in the preparation of
this report as required by section 5A(5)(a) Local Government and Housing Act
1989. They have confirmed that they have no further comments to make/or, their
comments are set out in paragraphs 5.2.

5.2

The Head of Paid Service and the Chief Finance Officer note the contents of the
report from the Monitoring Officer and will give full consideration to the responses of
the Head of Housing and Planning.

Contact Officer:
Reporting to:

Tim Howes, Monitoring Officer
Madeline Homer, Chief Executive

Background Papers
Title
none

Details of where to access copy
n/a

Corporate Consultation
Finance
Legal

Chris Blundell, Head of Financial Services and Deputy Chief Financial Officer
Tim Howes, Director of Corporate Governance and Monitoring Officer

Page 39

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
RESPONSE TO MONITORING OFFICER’S REPORT
GAS SAFETY CERTIFICATES
Cabinet

25 July 2019

Report Author

Tim Willis, Deputy Chief Executive

Portfolio Holder

Cllr Robert Bayford, Leader of the Council

Status

For Decision

Classification:

Unrestricted

Key Decision

No

Executive Summary:
This report sets out the management response to the concerns raised about gas safety
certification as set out in the Monitoring Officer’s report to Cabinet.
The report sets out the background to the identified failure to undertake inspections in a
number of council owned dwellings and the remedial actions taken.
The council views the health and safety of its tenants as a critical priority. The council will
take all necessary action to ensure that gas safety inspections are completed in line with
legislation and to provide assurance to members, tenants and officers of the council about
gas safety.

Recommendation(s):
Cabinet is asked to:
1. Adopt this report as its report to the Monitoring Officer in accordance with the
requirements of S5A (8)&(9) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, and that
a copy of it be provided to all Members of the Council and the Monitoring Officer.
2. Note the potential wider concerns about the services provided by EKH, identified as a
result of recent developments.
3. Note the interim measures taken and delegate authority to the Chief Executive to take
further interim measures as required.
4. Request a further report setting out the potential future options for the management of
the council’s housing stock and whether a detailed options appraisal, including
resident consultation, should be completed. An initial scoping report would be required
to set out the proposed process, timescale and cost.

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS
Financial and
The costs of the interim measures taken so far have been contained within
Value for
existing budgets. Any additional costs, potentially arising from the
Money
retendering of the main contract or consideration of future options, will be
reported to members separately in due course.

Page 41

Agenda Item 8
Legal

The Monitoring Officer has issued a report under section 5A of the local
Government and Housing Act 1989 in relation to a breach by the
executive of Regulation 36 of the Gas Safety (Installation and Use)
Regulations 1998 which places a duty upon a landlord to have a gas
safety check undertaken on an annual basis on appliances and flues to
which the regulations apply. Further a record of that inspection must be
kept and retained in accordance with the requirements of the regulations.
As soon as practicable, after the cabinet has concluded its consideration
of that report, to prepare a report which specifies—
(a)
(b)
(c)

what action (if any) the cabinet has taken in response to this
report;
what action (if any) the cabinet proposes to take in response to
this report and when it proposes to take that action; and
the reasons for taking the action specified in the cabinet’s
report or, as the case may be, for taking no action.

To assist with that requirement this report with the management response
has been prepared in advance for consideration and adoption by cabinet
as their report in response to the Monitoring Officer’s report.
As soon as practicable after the cabinet has prepared its report it should
arrange for a copy of it to be sent to each member of the Council and the
Council’s Monitoring Officer.
Corporate
The provision of an annual gas safety certificate for every occupied council
owned dwelling is a statutory requirement. Any failure to comply with this
requirement is a significant risk to the council.
Equalities Act Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector
2010 & Public Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to
Sector Equality the aims of the Duty at the time the decision is taken. The aims of the
Duty
Duty are: (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation
and other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance equality of
opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and
people who do not share it, and (iii) foster good relations between people
who share a protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Protected characteristics: age, gender, disability, race, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, religion or belief and pregnancy & maternity. Only
aim (i) of the Duty applies to Marriage & civil partnership.
Please indicate which aim is relevant to the report.
Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and X
other conduct prohibited by the Act,
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a
protected characteristic and people who do not share it
Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and people who do not share it.
There are no equalities implications arising from this report.

Page 42

Agenda Item 8

CORPORATE PRIORITIES (tick
those relevant)✓
A clean and welcoming
Environment
Promoting inward investment and
job creation
Supporting neighbourhoods
✓

CORPORATE VALUES
those relevant)✓
Delivering value for money

(tick
✓

Supporting the Workforce
Promoting open communications

1.0

Introduction and Background

1.1

In 2005 the four councils of Dover, Canterbury, Folkestone & Hythe and Thanet
carried out appraisals for the long term viability of their council housing. Although they
could each achieve and sustain the Decent Homes standard and had viable business
plans they shared concerns that their relatively small stock holding might limit their
ambitions to improve services. In 2008 opportunities for joint working between the
four housing services were explored and in 2010 a detailed business case for a
shared housing management service was approved by the four councils. East Kent
Housing (EKH) was launched on 1 April 2011.

1.2

The set up arrangements for EKH are complex. As an arms length management
organisation (ALMO) it delivers services through a management agreement to
Council tenants in each of the four Local Authority areas. There is an additional
agreement in the form of the Owners Agreement that manages the relationship of the
four councils, not only with the ALMO, but also with each other.

1.3

There have been concerns about performance aspects of EKH asset management
since the ALMO was established and in particular concerns about procurement and
contract management. These have been discussed with Chief Executives and
Members from time to time.

1.4

These problems have predominantly been in connection with failures to follow proper
procurement processes and include requests for waivers to contract standing orders
to allow contract extension, direct awards, and retrospective approvals. In the first few
years of EKH’s existence these requests impacted on individual Local Authorities (LA)
but as more contracts have been procured jointly the risk has become wider and
more significant. Concerns about procurement have been exacerbated by contract
management issues at EKH, and a number of important contracts have been poorly
managed by EKH. The problems with contract management have been highlighted in
a number of audit reports. Significant concerns have also been identified about
project management at EKH, particularly in relation to the proposed new single IT
system, where delays have impacted on costs over time.

1.5

As a consequence of these growing concerns, the four councils agreed to an
improvement plan for EKH. The Improvement Plan was supported by an increase the
level of funding to EKH. This improvement plan was intended to give EKH an 18
month window, between 1 April 2019 and 30 September 2020, in which to progress
and improve areas of concern raised by the four councils. The first report detailing
progress against the improvement plan is due at the end of June 2019 for quarter 1.
The cabinet approved the implementation of the Improvement Plan at its meeting on
15 January 2019.

Page 43

Agenda Item 8
1.6

Very recently, and more seriously, issues relating to the management, demobilisation
and procurement of the heating (servicing, repair & boiler installation) contract have
been raised. These have potential implications for tenant safety which require a swift
response to address the specific issues, establish any underlying issues and
weaknesses and to consider the most appropriate remedial action.

2.0

Gas Services

2.1

Gas services were provided under contract by P&R. The contract with P&R includes
provision for annual Landlord Gas Safety Record (LGSR) inspections, emergency
repairs and boiler replacements and an annual programme of routine boiler upgrades.
The management of this contract by EKH has been subject to an internal audit in
October 2018, which revealed significant weaknesses on the part of EKH. This has
been reflected in the approved EKH Improvement Plan, although a recent follow-up
audit has identified slow progress against the actions so far.

2.2

Following efforts by EKH to negotiate with P&R and improve the sustainability of the
contract, P&R advised that the contract was not financially viable and gave notice on
2 April 2019 to terminate. The contract ended on 3 July 2019. Performance issues
during the contract notice period were identified as a key risk by EKH and interim
mitigation arrangements were developed in advance of termination notice being
served by P&R. This involved identifying a number of alternative contractors who
could be issued works in the event of a service failure.

2.3

During April and May significant performance issues materialised in relation to
LGSRs, although these were not reported to TDC until 20 May 2019, by which time
TDC had up to 133 properties without a valid LGSR. This is despite tenant health and
safety reporting being embedded within the arrangements for TDC’s supervision of
EKH. EKH have indicated that they shared information as soon as they were aware
and that the issues related to P&R providing misleading information or not providing
information at all. However if certificates had not been sighted by EKH they should
have reported them as not completed.

2.4

There had been on-going complications with the P&R contract, mainly in relation to
the sign off, valuation and certification of works, overvaluation of completed works by
P&R and delays in P&R issuing documents required by the contract in relation to
boiler installations, for example manufacturers guarantees. These matters had been
highlighted in an internal audit report of contract management at EKH.

2.5

The potential risk that the P&R contract was heading towards an early termination
was identified as early as December 2018, and EKH proposed an approach to
alternative interim providers in the event of a performance failure on the part of P&R.
These were approved and a select list of alternative suppliers set up with each of the
four councils.

2.6

The re-tender of the main gas contract was advertised on 8 April. Dover District
Council has lead the procurement with EKH and submissions have now been
evaluated. The intention of this work was to secure a new contractor ready to mobilise
by 3 July 2019. The evaluation process identified further clarification of tenders, which
has caused delays and the 3 July deadline is now not possible. As a consequence
interim arrangements have been required to allow time for these issues to be
resolved.

Page 44

Agenda Item 8
3.0

Landlord Gas Safety Records

3.1

The scale of the deterioration in the performance of P&R in relation to the completion
of LGSRs on time was reported to the council on 20 May 2019. Previously any
missing LGSRs were reported through monthly health and safety reports to a monthly
liaison meeting between EKH and TDC and remedial actions instructed.

3.2

The report submitted by EKH, dated 31 March 2019, which was discussed at the
subsequent liaison meeting, held on 9 April 2019, showed 99.31% compliance with
19 properties having an overdue LGSR. These were understood to relate to access
difficulties and EKH were instructed to resolve these 19 cases as soon as possible.
There are established forced entry procedures to enable this.

3.3

EKH failed to submit a health and safety report for the end of April, citing issues with
bank holidays as the cause of the delay. At the liaison meeting held on 14 May 2019
EKH advised verbally that all 19 had been completed, although that advice
subsequently turned out to be incorrect. EKH have alleged that P&R provided them
with false information about these 19 cases. At the meeting EKH agreed to submit the
April Health and Safety report by 17 May 2019, but it still hasn’t been received. A
subsequent report dated 31 May 2019 has been provided on 11 June 2019 and
showed 108 outstanding LGSRs.

3.4

Once the scale of the situation became clear, EKH were instructed to provide daily
updates on the number of outstanding LGSRs, issue default notices in all cases to
P&R and raise orders for the works to be completed by alternative suppliers following
default procedures. The timeline shows that EKH advised the council of the East Kent
wide position on 20 May 2019, with details of the Thanet position provided on 22 May
2019. Initial instructions were therefore issued to EKH on 22 May. The position was
reviewed on 24 May 2019 and the instructions to EKH amended to ensure that works
were immediately issued to alternative providers, rather than waiting for the 7 day
default notice period to expire.

3.5

The table below provides a summary of the number of outstanding LGSRs, as
provided to the council by EKH. The figures include addresses from the original list
and any newly arising properties as LGSRs expire.
Date

Date information provided

Thanet outstanding
LGSRs

31 March 2019

Prior to liaison meeting on 9
April 2019

19

17 May 2019

23 May 2019

123

22/23 May 2019

23 May 2019

133

24 May 2019

24 May 2019

124

28 May 2019

28 May 2019

130

30 May 2019

30 May 2019

108

4 June 2019

4 June 2019

114

Page 45

Agenda Item 8
7 June 2019

7 June 2019

108

11 June 2019

11 June 2019

97

20 June 2019

20 June 2019

54

23 June 2019

23 June 2019

42

25 June 2019

25 June 2019

43

28 June 2019

28 June 2019

26

1 July 2019

1 July 2019

25

2 July 2019

2 July 2019

15

3 July 2019

3 July 2019

10

EKH advised that all outstanding LGSRs and all those due up until 3 July 2019 have
been issued to alternative contractors and that they expected the situation to be fully
recovered during July 2019. At the time of publishing this report there remained 10
LGSR’s overdue.
4.0

Regulation

4.1

EKH were contacted by the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) on 12 June 2019 and
an initial response to the issues raised was submitted by EKH on the same day. It will
be necessary to keep the HSE informed of progress and to carefully review any
written advice received from the HSE.

4.2

The Regulator for Social Housing’s published Home Standard includes the obligations
placed on social landlords in relation to statutory tenant health and safety. The
regulator wrote to local authority landlords in May 2019 spelling out that it is the
responsibility of the Local Authority to ensure that the Health and Safety standards in
the Homes Standard are met even if the service is contracted out to an ALMO. The
letter can be viewed via the following link:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/802481/Letter_to_LAs_-_RSH_consumer_standards_-_May_2019.pdf
The letter stated that should any provider find that they have systemic failings in
relation to internal control of health and safety, which indicates that they are not in
compliance with the Standard, based on our co-regulatory approach, ‘we expect you
to notify us as Regulator and resolve the issues immediately’.

4.3

This council wrote to the Regulator for Social Housing on 20 June 2019 advising of
the position with LGSRs and the remedial action taken. A copy of the referral letter is
attached at annex 1.

4.4

In addition, there is a requirement for Monitoring Officers to report any potential
illegality to members and this report has also been considered on this agenda.

Page 46

Agenda Item 8
4.5

Dispute resolution provisions within the EKH contract provide for issues to be
escalated to the Chief Executives of the four councils and the situation in respect of
LGSRs was discussed at the EKCX forum on 12 June 2019. The forum also
considered the agreed EKH Improvement Plan. The Improvement Plan runs from 1
April 2019 to 30 September 2020, with the main improvements required focused on
the first 12 months to 31 March 2020. The first monitoring period for the agreed
performance plan is from 1 April 2019 to 30 June 2019 and is due to be reported
during July. As well as reporting progress to council client officers, CMTs and
members, the CX forum agreed that meetings should be arranged with the Chair and
Chief Executive of EKH to discuss progress against the Improvement Plan and the
position in relation to LGSRs.

4.0

Retendering

4.1

The retendering of the main gas contract was advertised on 8 April 2019, with a view
to a new contractor mobilising by 3 July 2019. The new contract tendered was for all
four council areas and the outcome needs to be approved by all councils.

4.2

Following evaluations, it became necessary to ask a number of clarification questions
of bidders, which caused delays to the extent that mobilisation of the new contract is
not now possible for 3 July 2019. This created a need for a further period of interim
service which has been agreed with a local provider with the necessary skills and
capacity for an initial 4 month period, running from 3 July 2019.

4.3

The evaluation and clarifications have all now been resolved and the four councils will
be appointing a new contractor as a result. The new contract is anticipated to start at
the beginning of November 2019 and the interim arrangements in place will cover the
intervening period.

5.0

Other P&R contract issues.

5.1

Following the contract management audit completed by EKAP in October 2018, EKH
commissioned Gas Contract Services Ltd. (GCS) to undertake a thorough review of
work completed by P&R and the amounts claimed, certified and invoiced for this
work. The review identified significant weaknesses in the contract management
arrangements leading to a failure to identify overcharging by P&R for works
completed and instances where works have been completed but adequate paperwork
not provided.

5.2

The review identified 3 separate amounts across East Kent, of which one amount is
agreed by P&R, as overpayments. A summary of each of the 3 sums has been
provided by EKH and is set out below:
●
530k - This sum has been acknowledged and accepted by P&R and is being
set off against contract payments.
●
353k - EKH have advised that this sum was being treated as a payment on
account/payment in advance and that P&R would inspect all properties at the
next service visit, evidence work carried out and provide the certification
required under the contracts. However the early termination of the contract
meant that this was insufficient time to complete this work and this amount is
now viewed as an overpayment, although it is disputed by P&R.
●
596k - EKH advised that this sum related to services, such as co-located
administrators and resident liaison officers, where evidence of the service had

Page 47

Agenda Item 8
not been provided. P&R strongly disputes this sum and have argued that these
services were provided, albeit from a different location.
5.3

Although the internal audit review has increased the level of assurance in relation to
the contract management of this contract, from nil to limited, and arrangements were
put in place to start to offset the agreed amount of £530k, there was insufficient time
for these amounts to be fully recovered prior to the termination of the contract by
offsetting on-going charges. Further action is therefore needed in respect of these
sums. TDC’s share of the agreed figure of £530k is c£105k.

5.4

Despite these agreements P&R have asserted that there are amounts outstanding
and written to all four councils demanding payment for sums that do not appear to
have been invoiced and to do correspond to any of the figures provided by EKH. TDC
has asked P&R for clarification and relevant invoice numbers which have not been
provided. The other three councils have also received letters from P&Rs legal
representatives, although TDC has not, we presume because disputed amounts are
smaller.

5.5

These issues have been discussed with the other councils and joint legal advice has
been commissioned about the options for the recovery of overpaid amounts, how best
to protect the councils’ respective positions and whether the overcharging would
constitute fraud. This process may lead to formal legal or criminal action or
independent arbitration, depending upon the advice and the strength of the evidence
upon detailed examination.

6.0

Further Intervention in EKH Services

6.1

EKH is a separate legal entity as a company and is governed by a Board of directors
comprising residents, Councillors and independent persons with an independent
chair. Its Management team are responsible to the Board. The degree of control that
the councils have to direct any changes and improvements are set out in
management agreements between each of the four councils and EKH.

6.2

The failures in connection with LGSRs have raised questions about the reliability of
data and the performance of EKH in other areas of statutory compliance such as
electrical certification, lifts, fire safety and legionella testing. These functions are
currently being audited by EKAP, and initially findings are revealing that there are
failings in these areas too.

6.3

Concerns have been raised by members and officers in all four council areas about
these issues, which present significant risk to the four councils and our tenants.
Continued service failures of this nature are not acceptable which inevitably starts to
raise questions about further control and improvement measures that can be applied
to the services delivered by EKH.

6.4

The council has undertaken an immediate direct intervention. The intervention
involved a TDC officer task force, investigating health and safety management and
reporting across the range of services provided by EKH to the council’s tenants,
inspecting key buildings and relevant health and safety files. The findings of this
intervention will inform the next steps, including the potential to replace the current

Page 48

Agenda Item 8
management of EKH or withdraw responsibility for the delivery of specific areas of the
service from EKH.
6.5

EKH is already subject to an 18-month Improvement Plan running from 1 April 2019
to 30 September 2020, with the first monitoring period ending on 30 June 2019. The
Improvement Plan can be formalised as a contractual ‘Remediation Plan’ under the
terms of the management agreement with EKH, and can be added to, to include the
recently emerging issues relating to statutory health and safety compliance. Client
officers will be considering whether the improvement plan and steps taken to
introduce this are sufficiently robust to ensure the necessary improvements or
whether it needs to be formally escalated to a remediation plan under the terms of the
management agreement with EKH and whether more frequent monitoring of the
outcomes specified within the improvement plan are required.

6.6

The four councils are also required to agree an annual delivery plan for EKH, which
provides a further opportunity to direct EKH to improve essential services in key areas
and to direct available resources to priorities set by the councils.

6.7

Under the terms of the management agreement, the councils have the authority to
remove specific personnel from the delivery of the services provided by EKH and
impose their own personnel on the organisation. In the immediate short term this
option may help to ensure that EKH’s management arrangements are sufficiently
robust to deliver the required improvements. Under the governance arrangements for
EKH these actions would need to be agreed with the other owner councils to be
effective. Short-term intervention in the management of EKH is considered to be
essential to secure the required improvements and to allow time for longer term
solutions to be developed.

6.8

In the longer term, the councils also have the authority to remove elements of the
service from EKH and deliver it in a different way or terminate the arrangement
completely. These measures would also ideally (but not exclusively) require the
agreement of all the four councils, as well as appropriate timescales, project plans
and resources to be delivered effectively. Under section 105 of the Housing Act 1985,
any significant changes in housing management arrangements would require
extensive tenant consultation, at least as extensive as the consultation completed
prior to EKH being established.

6.9

The potential long term future options include:
● Continue with EKH on a reformed basis: Which may include improving the
EKH governance arrangements, strengthening the EKH management team,
increasing the level of scrutiny by the council over EKH activities and increasing
the level of resources provided to EKH, in particular to manage health and
safety issues.
● Continue with EKH as a shared service, but not an ALMO: This option may
involve one of the partner councils acting as the lead authority for the provision
of services and as employer for EKH staff. Careful consideration would need to

Page 49

Agenda Item 8

●

●

be given to the governance and management arrangements for a shared
service.
Return the service in house, either independently or collectively: This
option would provide the council with the greatest level of control over the
services provided, but exiting the current arrangements would need to be
negotiated and agreed with the other councils. There would be TUPE, pension
fund, accounting and management issues to consider and review which could
potentially increase service costs.
An alternative form of partnership with another provider: Options may
include initially returning the services in house and subsequently outsourcing all
or part of the service to a new provider or providers.

6.10

All of the available long-term options would include a detailed options analysis and
the development of a clear business case for the preferred model. The time needed to
complete this work thoroughly does mean that shorter term intervention measures are
also required, as described in 6.4 to 6.7 above.

6.11

In considering the potential future options, members will need to take into account:
● The optimal solution for tenants and leaseholders.
● Requirements for consultation.
● The costs and benefits of each option.
● TUPE, pension and accounting issues and any impact on the council’s HRA
business plan.
● Legal and governance implications in changing the service or winding up EKH.
● The implementation process.
● Timescales and project costs.

6.12

Members will also need to consider the extent to which the decisions of all four
councils are aligned. Operating within a consensus is likely to make the practical
measures simpler, and cheaper and more effective to implement.

Contact Officer:
Reporting to:

Bob Porter, Head of Housing and Planning
Tim Willis, Deputy Chief Executive

Annex List
Annex 1

Letter to the Regulator for Social Housing

Background Papers
Title
EKH Improvement Plan

Details of where to access copy
https://democracy.thanet.gov.uk/documents/s62537/EKH%20I
mprovement%20Plan%20-%20Cabinet%2015-1-19.doc.pdf

Corporate Consultation
Finance
Legal

Chris Blundell, Head of Finance
Tim Howes, Director of Corporate Governance

Page 50

Telephone
Email
Date

01843 577002
madeline.homer@thanet.gov.uk
20 June 2019

Agenda Item 8
Annex 1

The Regulator for Social Housing
Referrals and Regulatory Team
1st Floor – Lateral
8 City Walk
Leeds LS11 9AT

Dear Sir/Madam
Gas Safety
I am writing to advise you that, as a result of our heating and hot water contractor serving
notice on us, we have had a number of LGSRs which have expired.
Our main heating & hot water contractor, P&R, gave notice to terminate the service they
provide to us with effect from 3 July 2019. During the notice period, we have become
aware that P&R have failed to meet their contractual obligations to undertake LGSRs
within the required timeframes.
At the end of March there were 19 LGSRs overdue and from April 2019 we appointed Gas
Consultancy Services, an independent contractor, to provide additional services to East
Kent Housing (EKH), the ALMO which manages our housing stock. It became evident
during April and May that the contractors were failing to deliver LGSRs and by 28 May
2019 the number outstanding had risen to 130. We appointed 7 additional contractors to
take over the work. These interim contractors were duly vetted and have the appropriate
qualifications for gas servicing.
All efforts are being made to contact residents to book servicing appointments at a time
convenient to them, including evenings and weekends and every resident has been
contacted. East Kent Housing staff are telephoning residents in the evenings as well as
daytime, and door knocking has been carried out at weekends as well as weekdays.
Continued ...
Reception: 01843 577002
Email: madeline.homer@thanet.gov.uk
Web: thanet.gov.uk
Facebook: @ThanetDistrictCouncil
Twitter: @ThanetCouncil
Head office: Cecil St, Margate, CT9 1XZ

Page 51

Agenda Item 8
Annex 1

2
All residents are receiving a minimum of two letters, followed up with three phone calls
where numbers are available, and if residents still do not contact East Kent Housing, they
are affixing a notice to their front door requesting that the resident make contact within 48
hours, as well as posting through their letterbox. Following the expiry of 48 hours they are
using our non-access procedure.
I am receiving a daily update on progress towards recovery. The current numbers are 54
outstanding LGSRs, and from those 48 properties have appointments or are in the
non-access procedure. The oldest outstanding LGSRs is 134 days overdue, and has an
appointment booked for Monday 24 July.
We have now retendered the contract and evaluated the submissions and are able to
proceed with the letting of a new contract to a new provider in the coming weeks.
The Council has commissioned HQN, through EKH, to provide a report into how this has
arisen, and whether there are any lessons to be learnt for the future.
Yours faithfully

Madeline Homer
Chief Executive

Page 52

Agenda Item 9
Review of Housing Assistance Policy
Cabinet

25 July 2019

Report Author

Tim Willis, Deputy Chief Executive

Portfolio Holder

Cllr Lesley Game, Cabinet Member for Housing and Safer
Neighbourhoods

Status

For Decision

Classification:

Unrestricted

Key Decision

Yes

Reasons for Key

Significant effect on communities

Previously Considered by

Overview and Scrutiny Panel - 18 July 2019

Ward:

All

Executive Summary:
The Council’s Housing Assistance and Disabled Adaptations Policy 2015-2019 is the
framework governing the award of disabled facilities grants and other types of grants and
loans to householders. There have been significant funding changes since the policy was
written and the policy has been reviewed. The proposed policy aims to maximise the use of
the available funding and offer more appropriate kinds of assistance to local residents.
Speeding-up the process by new ways of working is also proposed.

Recommendation(s):
1.
2.

Approve the draft of the Housing Assistance and Disabled Adaptations Policy attached
(Annex 1) of this report.
Delegate authority to the Head of Housing and Planning in consultation with the Cabinet
Member for Housing and Safer Neighbourhoods to make any minor changes to the
policy and from time to time when needed.

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS
Financial and
The cost of funding Disabled Facilities Grants and associated assistance
Value for
is met primarily by an annual grant from the Better Care Fund,
Money
supplemented by receipts from the repayment of grants given in earlier
years on sale of adapted properties.
The funding for other types of financial assistance is already in the budget
and derives from capital receipts from the sale of properties which were
the subject of repayable grants and loans in earlier years.
The proposals enable the available funding to be properly used and
re-invested to benefit local residents.

Page 53

Agenda Item 9
Legal

Corporate

The draft policy changes the details of the financial assistance to be
offered to residents but does not change the legal basis upon which the
policy is founded.
The proposals set out in this report provide significant support to
vulnerable residents and residents with physical disabilities in the district.
They contribute to the council’s Corporate Objectives to support
neighbourhoods and communities.

The proposals present a low risk to the Council.
Equality
Act Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector
2010 & Public Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to
Sector
the aims of the Duty at the time the decision is taken. The aims of the
Equality Duty
Duty are: (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation
and other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance equality of
opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and
people who do not share it, and (iii) foster good relations between people
who share a protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Protected characteristics: age, gender, disability, race, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, religion or belief and pregnancy & maternity. Only
aim (i) of the Duty applies to Marriage & civil partnership.
Please indicate which aim is relevant to the report.
Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act,
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a X
protected characteristic and people who do not share it
Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and people who do not share it.
The aim of DFGs is to adapt the homes of people with disabilities so that
the disabled occupant is able to access the building and the rooms and
facilities within the building independently.
The Equalities Impact Assessment is attached at Annex 2.

CORPORATE PRIORITIES (tick
those relevant)✓
A clean and welcoming
Environment
Promoting inward investment and
job creation
Supporting neighbourhoods
✓
1.0

CORPORATE VALUES
those relevant)✓
Delivering value for money

(tick

✓
Supporting the Workforce
Promoting open communications

Introduction and Background

1.1.

The Council has a statutory duty to award Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) to
people who qualify for assistance, subject to means testing.

1.2.

The only way to offer any additional kinds of financial assistance for adaptations,
repairs or improvements to people's homes is by including them in a Housing
Assistance Policy which has been adopted and published by the Council.

Page 54

Agenda Item 9
1.3.

The council’s current Housing Assistance Policy is now out of date and reflects a
time when the council held a waiting list of people wanting grants. Times have
changed; the council no longer has a waiting list, government funding for adaptations
has increased significantly and there is now an opportunity to expand our policy to
provide additional assistance.

1.4.

In the past, funding for DFGs came directly from the government. Now the funding
for DFGs is part of the Better Care Fund (BCF). The BCF is a pooled budget across
district and county councils and health services. The fund is administered by KCC
and is available to be spent on things which contribute to the BCF Plan, including
DFGs. The purpose of including the DFG funding in the BCF was to enable spending
on wider joint housing, health and social care outcomes, such as reducing hospital
admissions and enabling earlier discharge from hospital. KCC are required to pass
the DFG element of the BCF fund to the district and borough councils each year.

1.5

Work has been completed with neighbouring councils to ensure that there are similar
approaches to the use of the funding across East Kent, potentially enabling greater
joint working in the future.

2.0

The Current Situation

2.1

Since the current Policy was adopted in January 2015 there have been changes in
the funding for DFGs at local and national level. In particular, the government has
increased funding for the BCF which in turn has resulted in year-on-year increases in
the DFG budget. The government has allocated a total of £505m to DFGs for
2019/20. At this moment, Thanet’s DFG budget is around £3m per annum and is the
highest of all non-metropolitan district councils in England. Allocations are determined
by the MHCLG and the table below shows the allocated DFG funding for Thanet over
the past four years.
2016/17
£2,342,439

2017/18
£2,568,686

2018/19

2019/20

£2,794,932

£3,015,899
BCF Allocations to Thanet

2.2

The works which qualify for a mandatory DFG are tightly defined in law. The
increases in funding have enabled the council to provide increasing numbers of
grants and the available budget now comfortably exceeds the demand for mandatory
grants and the council no longer holds a waiting list for grants. The chart below
shows the number of grants made and the number of applicants waiting for a grant
over the past 5 years.

Page 55

Agenda Item 9

Chart showing completed DFGs and applications waiting for funding

2.3

The chart projects a requirement for the council to provide around 220 DFGs during
the financial year 2019/20. Over the past three years the average cost of a completed
DFG has been £10,300. Assuming this continues throughout 2019/20, it is anticipated
that the council will commit a total of £2.27m to mandatory DFGs. During 2017/18
and 2018/19 the government allocated additional funding to DFGs part way through
the year. These additional funds were committed and spent, leaving some of the
original DFG funding unspent. These unspent amounts have been carried forward
and are now available for additional services.

2.4

Prior to 2016/17 KCC had an additional allocation of Social Care Capital Grant
(SCCG) totalling £2.1m for the county. This funding was used for enhancements to
the mandatory DFG service and could provide fixed or removable equipment for
people with physical disabilities to use in their own home, such as ceiling track hoists
or equipment needed urgently. The funding could also be used to top-up mandatory
grants or fund minor adaptations of less than £1,000. In administering the BCF grant,
KCC have top sliced district allocations each year so that these services could be
continued, pending a review of the arrangements. The amount of the KCC top slice
has been agreed annually between all kent councils.

2.5

The table below provides a summary of the current funding available for DFGs and
related projects. In certain circumstances mandatory DFGs are required to be repaid
to the council, and these funds are recycled to provide further assistance and the
amounts are included within the table below.

Description
B/fwd
Core BCF Grant
Top sliced/payment to KCC

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20
Projected

£0

439

£591,991

£1,428,064

£2,342,439

£2,568,686

£2,794,932

£3,015,899

-£344,500

-£374,686

-£375,132

-£405,000

Page 56

Agenda Item 9
Additional grant allocation

£0

£261,175

£336,312

£0

£74,270

£101,982

£182,154

£120,000

Spend

-£2,071,770

-£1,965,605

-£2,102,193

-£2,266,284

C/fwd

£439

£591,991

£1,428,064

£1,892,679

Grants paid back to TDC from
homeowners

Currently available BCF funding

2.6

It cannot be assumed that funding will continue at this level, however it does currently
present an opportunity for the council to adopt a more flexible approach to the use of
the funding than it has in the past. The current Housing Assistance Policy does not
include discretion to exceed statutory amounts for DFGs and this has resulted in
reduced schemes of work being carried out in some cases and some adaptations not
going ahead at all where the applicant could not afford to pay their share of the costs.
The council has not previously had sufficient funding to offer much “discretionary”
assistance, but now has the opportunity to do so. Funding can also be used to help
speed up the application process, completing works more quickly and providing
assistance that may otherwise have not been available. Additional discretionary
services will need to be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that funds continue to
be available to support them, once budget has been set aside for mandatory grants.

2.7

Within the BCF Plan there is particular emphasis on reducing long stays in hospital
(bed blocking) by speeding-up the provision of care and adaptation services and on
reducing admissions to hospital by improving energy efficiency, security and safety in
the home. Councils are able to offer additional types of assistance to alleviate these
problems, if funding is available.

2.8

In the past the council has also received other capital funding for private sector
housing renewal. In the main this funding has been used to provide loans to owners
and landlords of properties within the private sector. As funds are repaid to the
council they become available to be recycled for further housing renewal activity. The
table below provides a summary of the currently available funding.

Financial Year

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20
(to date)

Funding B/fwd

£462,192

£396,547

£431,126

£446,505

Grants repaid

£62,951

£85,370

£56,692

£1,474

-£128,596

-£50,791

-£41,312

£0

£396,547

£431,126

£446,505

£447,980

Expenditure
Funding C/fwd

Capital funding available private sector housing renewal

2.9

The current Housing Assistance Policy provides for some assistance to be offered to
owner occupiers and private sector landlords to improve their homes. There is
however an opportunity to review the arrangements and offer some additional support
with the available resources, on a repayable grant basis.

3.0

Proposals

3.1

The draft Housing Assistance and Disabled Adaptations Policy at Annex 1 sets out a
package of different kinds of assistance to be offered to householders in the district

Page 57

Agenda Item 9
which will supplement the mandatory grants currently on offer and contribute towards
some of the BCF aims.
3.2

The proposed policy is very similar to policies which have been adopted by
neighbouring councils. Having a common Housing Assistance Policy across East
Kent will potentially facilitate greater joint working with neighbouring councils and
ensure that people can receive similar services wherever they live in East Kent, with
similar qualifying criteria.

3.3

The table below summarises the discretionary assistance that could be provided
under the proposed Housing Assistance Policy in relation to the BCF. The level of
funding available for these initiatives is not certain into the future and the table shows
indicative amounts only, which will be subject to fluctuation, depending upon future
funding allocations. The table assumes that future mandatory grants will continue to
be funded through future BCF allocations and that the current carry forward amount
of £1.89m is allocated across the range of proposed discretionary projects over the
coming 3 years. Actual capital allocations are reviewed and set annually through the
budget setting process.
Initiative

2019/20
(£000s)

2020/21
(£000s)

2021/22
(£000s)

Discretionary top-up for mandatory
DFGs

150

150

150

Discretionary DFGs (for works that do
not qualify for a mandatory DFG)

150

150

150

Assisting DFG applicants to move to a
more suitable home where existing
home cannot be adapted

20

20

20

Stairlift grant - rapid response scheme
to facilitate hospital discharge for people
with disabilities

50

50

50

Home enablement service to facilitate
hospital discharge - including funding for
minor works to facilitate a return home
for where the person is elderly or
disabled

50

50

50

Handyperson scheme: minor
adaptations and safety-related works for
elderly disabled or vulnerable people on
low incomes

50

50

50

Paying for the services of an
occupational therapist if necessary (may
be top-sliced from the DFG budget by
KCC before we receive it)

52

52

52

Administration of the DFG programme

70

70

70

Page 58

Agenda Item 9
Home Improvement Agency support to
design and deliver discretionary works
@10%
Total Indicative Funding

35

35

35

627

627

627

3 year total

1,881
Proposed discretionary BCF projects and indicative funding

3.4

The proposed Housing Assistance Policy also includes additional support for home
owners and private sector landlords, particularly where homes are currently empty or
hazardous. There is currently £447k in the approved capital programme for housing
renewal initiatives and the table below shows indicative allocations of this funding
over the coming 3 years. Over the past 3 years an average of £68k has been repaid
to the council each year. It is anticipated that this will continue. As a result the
receipts anticipated for 2019/20 and 2020/21 have been included in the table. It is
anticipated that a total of £585k will be available for these initiatives over the next 3
years. Actual capital allocations are reviewed and set annually through the budget
setting process.
Initiative
Winter warmth - for improving heating
and/or insulation where applicant has a
medical need
Urgent repair loan for works to repair
applicant's home and reduce category 1
hazards, not connected with DFG
Home Improvement Agency support to
design and deliver discretionary works
@10%
Total Indicative Funding

2019/20
(000s)

2020/21
(000s)

2021/22
(000s)

75

75

75

100

100

100

17.5

17.5

17.5

192.5

192.5

192.5

3 year total

577.5

4.0

Administration

4.1

The BCF includes provision for the administration and delivery of DFGs schemes,
including services provided by the council or other agencies.

4.2

The council works closely with partner agencies to advise residents about the
available grants, assess the eligibility of applicants, approve grant applications and
release grant payments as works progress. Provision for the funding of these
activities is made within the indicative funding, detailed in the table at 3.3 above. The
funding of this administration fee will be reviewed annually so that it remains in line
with actual costs.

4.3

The East Kent Home Improvement Agency (HIA), currently managed by Peabody
Housing Trust, provide support to grant applicants to prepare and submit applications.
The role of the Home Improvement Agency includes assisting residents in applying

Page 59

Agenda Item 9
for support, designing schemes of work, helping residents to appoint suitable
contractors, managing the work on site and certificating payments and completions.
The HIA works for the grant applicant and their work is funded by a fee for each
application of 10% of the grant. The £2.2m currently committed to mandatory DFGs
also includes a 10% allowance for HIA fees.
4.4

The HIA also provide handyperson schemes and minor works and can work with both
hospital discharge teams and occupational therapy teams to ensure that suitable
adaptations are identified and installed promptly. Some of the funding for these
services is provided by KCC under contract, and there is scope to commission new
services, such as the proposed handyman schemes and home enablement services
locally.

4.5

Improving energy efficiency in peoples’ homes is one of the actions councils can take
to help vulnerable people stay out of hospital. The council has some limited forms of
assistance available to help with this in its current Housing Assistance Policy and the
new draft policy enhances this.

5.0

Funding

5.1

The capital funding available for DFGs in 2018/19 was £3,030,755.24, made up of a
government grant of £2,419,800.00 through the Better Care Fund, £591,991.00
brought forward from last year and the balance from DFG repayments. Expenditure
was £2.1m. In addition, there is a budget of £431,126.13 available for non-DFG
works originating from other types of grants that have been repaid on sale of
properties in recent years. The core BCF grant for 2019/20 totals £3.016m, although
the exact level of KCC top-slice for service it provides is not yet finalised.

5.3

Some of the new types of assistance will be funded from the DFG budget in so far as
they relate to the adaptation of a person’s home. Other assistance, which does not
relate to disability, will be funded from the accumulated capital receipts from grants
repaid in earlier years.

5.4

The law governing mandatory DFGs already specifically allows certain costs, which
would ordinarily be revenue costs, to be paid from the DFG/BCF budget. These
include administering the grant, professional fees for an architect or surveyor, the
costs of employing an occupational therapist, legal fees, etc

6.0

Options
Option 1: Do nothing. This would entail leaving the current policy in place. This would
result in a significant under-spend of the budget each year and would not take
advantage of the opportunities to improve outcomes for people with disabilities and
other vulnerable residents that the increased funding presents.
Option 2: Adopt the new draft policy with or without amendment. This would increase
the level of support available to local people, bring Thanet’s grant and loan offer
substantially into line with the other East Kent councils. This is the recommended
option.

Contact Officer:
Reporting to:

Bob Porter, Head of Housing and Planning
Tim Willis, Deputy Chief Executive

Page 60

Agenda Item 9
Annex List
Annex 1
Annex 2

Draft Housing Assistance Policy
Completed Equalities Impact Assessment

Background Papers
Title
None

Details of where to access copy
N/A

Corporate Consultation
Finance
Legal

Chris Blundell, Head of Finance
Sophia Nartey, Interim Head of Legal Services

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1

Annex 1

Thanet District Council

Housing Assistance and Disabled Adaptations
Policy
2019
(Housing Assistance Policy)

Page 63

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
Thanet District Council
Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance)(England and Wales) Order 2002
Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996
1.

Introduction
The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002
enables local authorities to provide financial assistance to households living in the
private sector to carry out repairs, improvements and adaptations so that they can
continue to live in their own homes as independently as possible for as long as their
health and other relevant circumstances permit. In order to make use of these
powers, the Council has to publish a Housing Assistance Policy. This document
describes Thanet District Council’s 2019 Housing Assistance Policy. It replaces the
Housing Assistance and Disabled Adaptations Policy adopted January 2015
The policy also details our policy on mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs),
which are provided under The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act
1996. It should be noted, The DFG programme is top-sliced by KCC to fund other
disabled adaptations.
The policy recognises the pressures on the Council’s own capital funds and any
money for future housing renewal is only likely to be funded from the repayment of
previous loans and grants and any new external funding that may become available.
The main focus of our discretionary Housing Assistance is towards:
● Schemes to improve the health and independence of
persons with
disabilities, the elderly and those with long term health conditions,
● To reduce the number of homes with category one hazards,
● To reduce fuel poverty,
● To enable more effective use of the mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant,
● To facilitate hospital discharge and reduce “bed blocking”,
● To encourage people to bring empty homes back into use.

2.

Fundamental principles:
It is neither possible nor desirable for the Council to offer financial assistance for all
private sector house condition problems. It can only directly assist a proportion of
these through targeting the limited resources available.
Although the responsibility to maintain private property rests firmly with the owner, it is
recognised that the private housing stock is a major public asset and can have an
important effect on the occupier’s health and independence. Most assistance is
offered as an investment in this local and national asset, for long-term public benefit,
economic regeneration and to improve the health and independence of our residents
which results in less demand on health and social care resources. In addition, certain
forms of assistance can help balance the local housing market in a way that gives
more choice and opportunities to those in housing need and bring additional good
quality housing back into use.

Page 64

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
The use of loans will be used where appropriate and loans and grants that are repaid
will be recycled into further private sector housing renewal. The Council and central
Government considers that this is an appropriate way forward given the pressure on
resources and because, over time, it will allow more homeowners to be assisted with
a limited amount of resource.
The Policy contributes towards Council Priority P2 (Supporting Neighbourhoods) by:
1. Assisting disabled residents to remain in their homes by supporting the
provision of adaptations (so far as this is reasonably practicable)
2. Facilitating prompt discharge of patients from hospital thus relieving pressure
on the NHS
3. Safeguarding the health and well-being of vulnerable residents by removing
unnecessary hazards to health in their homes
4. Maximising housing supply through supporting repairs and improvements to
return empty homes back into use
5. Promoting affordable warmth through improving private sector home energy
efficiency
The rest of this document describes the various types of assistance available and the
qualifying criteria.

3.

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants
The delivery of the disabled facilities grant programme is mandatory and a statutory
function of the local housing authority. The delivery of this function currently sits
within the Housing Service but it is possible for the function or parts of it to be
delegated to another organisation instead. The award of grants is governed by the
Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.
Purpose of Grant - Overview
A Disabled Facilities Grant is intended to pay for a package of adaptations to
someone’s home. The works that may attract a mandatory grant are listed in
Appendix A at the end of this policy. A grant applicant’s adaptation needs will usually
be assessed by an Occupational Therapist at the beginning of the process and a
scheme of appropriate works will then be designed. The grant will only cover the cost
of carrying-out the works in the most cost-effective way. The applicant is able to
design a scheme that is more extensive, or different, from the recommended scheme
provided they are willing to pay any extra costs incurred. How grants are accessed is
set out below:
Referral
Most disabled people wanting a grant are referred to the council via social services.
If a self-referral is made, the disabled person will be asked to contact social services
for an assessment of their adaptation needs. This is to enable social services to both
assess the person’s needs and identify any equipment that might help or any care
package that might be available. An occupational therapist (OT) usually carries out
this assessment because this is their area of expertise.

Page 65

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
Eligibility
The council will ensure that the proposed works are necessary and appropriate and
check that the property is suitable for adaptation. We will also check whether the
proposed works are the most cost effective method of achieving an appropriate
adaptation. As part of the process, details of the disabled person’s income and
savings (and their partner’s, if they have one) will be sought to determine whether
they are eligible for a full grant or if they have to make a contribution towards the cost
of the works from their own resources.
Application for a grant
Most people ask a surveyor or architect to prepare their grant application for them;
the process is quite time-consuming and requires technical knowledge. The surveyor
will draw plans, write a specification of work, obtain estimates from suitable builders,
apply for any other necessary consents and put together a complete grant application
on the applicant’s behalf. Their reasonable fees can usually be included in the grant.
The Thanet Home Improvement Agency is currently endorsed by the council for this
purpose and has considerable experience of designing for people with disabilities.
They also work with firms of experienced and trustworthy builders who can be relied
on to do the work; however a client is able to employ a surveyor or other agent of
their own choice to assist them. The grant will only pay a contribution towards the
fees for an agent up to, but not exceeding, the amount of fees that the Home
Improvement Agency would have charged for the work in question and, in order to
qualify for a contribution towards an agent’s fees the agent must be a fit and proper
person who has considerable experience in designing for the disabled (see criteria at
appendix B).
The applicant or their surveyor must send in the following documents to make a valid
application for a grant:
● A completed set of application forms
● Evidence of financial situation
● Evidence of ownership of the property or the right to reside at the property
● Permission for the works to be carried out
● A detailed schedule of works and plans that must be agreed by the council
and the OT
● Any planning, conservation or building regulation approvals
● 3 competitive tenders for the works. Lower numbers of tenders will only be
accepted where the work is so specialised that it is not possible to get three.
Approval or Refusal
Once an application has been received the council will make a decision as soon as
reasonably practicable, but in any case within six months, provided all the necessary
paperwork has been submitted. Failure to provide all the relevant paperwork could
result in the grant being delayed or refused.
As part of the process, all builders’ estimates and other fees and charges will be
assessed for reasonableness and where costs seem excessive the full cost may not
be met by the grant. The grant will only cover the amount the council thinks is

Page 66

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
appropriate for the work proposed, but there is nothing to stop the applicant topping
up the grant from their own resources to pay for a particular builder or for
unusually-expensive fixtures and fittings. Similarly there is nothing to stop the
applicant carrying-out more extensive work than is strictly necessary to achieve the
objectives of the adaptation scheme, but in these cases the grant will be based on
the most modest way of doing the work, leaving the applicant to top-up the extra cost
from their own resources. The only stipulation, in these circumstances, is that the
finished job must fully meet the adaptation needs as assessed by the Occupational
Therapist and agreed by the Grants Officer.
When a grant is approved a formal approval letter will be sent out detailing the terms
of the grant and the conditions that need to be met.
The largest grant the council is allowed to award is £30,000, including fees, VAT and
any other costs. If the total cost of the scheme of work is greater than this then the
applicant will have to pay the extra cost from their own resources unless they are
eligible for any kind of top-up funding from other sources.
Once approved, the applicant has 12 months to complete the works.
Work on Site
After the grant has been approved the surveyor will enter into a contract with the
builder on behalf of the applicant. He/she will arrange a suitable start date and
supervise the work in progress. It is not uncommon for additional works to become
necessary whilst the job is in progress (eg repairs to the floor or re-siting of cables
and pipes) and the surveyor will negotiate these with the builder and the grants
officer. Once the work is all complete the surveyor will arrange a final inspection and
organise the payments due to the builder.
Payment of the grant
The grant will be paid direct to the builder in all but the most exceptional cases.
Surveyors’ fees are usually paid when the work is all complete. The grant will be
re-calculated if necessary and the applicant will be notified of the final amount of
grant paid.
Where fees are necessarily incurred for preparation of a scheme of works but the
application does not proceed to completion due to circumstances beyond the control
of the applicant the council may negotiate a reasonable settlement with the agent
concerned to ensure that they are not out of pocket. If abortive fees are incurred
through circumstances within the applicant’s control the agent will be expected to
recover any fees and out of pocket expenses direct from the applicant.
Grant Conditions
General conditions can be found in section 7.0. The conditions set out below are
specific to the Disabled Facilities Grant.
● If you are an owner occupier then a local land charge will usually be placed on
your property on completion of the work. If the property is sold, assigned or
transferred within 10 years of the grant being completed then the grant may
have to be repaid. The council will have regard to The Housing Grants,

Page 67

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1

●
●

Construction and Regeneration Act 1996: Disabled Facilities Grants
(Conditions relating to approval or payment of Grant) General Consent 2008
when deciding whether to demand repayment. The charge only applies where
the grant is more than £5,000. Where the grant is more than £5,000 only the
amount over the first £5,000 is added as a charge. There is a charge limit of
£10,000.
Any increase in the grant may have an impact on the charge placed against
the property.
Under no circumstances can a grant of more than £30,000 be authorised,
including fees, charges and VAT where applicable.

Repayment of disabled facilities grants
Under the general consent, made by the Secretary of State in 2008, the Council will
in most cases require repayment of some of the grant if the property is sold within 10
years from the date of completion of the works and the applicant(s) no longer live
there. The first £5,000 of the grant is not repayable but the remaining grant may be
repayable up to a maximum of £10,000. In determining whether to require repayment,
the council will consider;
(i) The extent to which the recipient of the grant would suffer financial hardship were
they to be required to repay all or any of the grant;
(ii) Whether the disposal of the premises is to enable the recipient of the grant to
take up employment, or to change the location of his employment;
(iii) Whether the disposal is made for reasons connected with the physical or mental
health or wellbeing of the recipient of the grant or of a disabled occupant of the
premises; and
(iv) Whether the disposal is made to enable the recipient of the grant to live with, or
near, any person who is disabled or infirm and in need of care, which the
recipient of the grant is intending to provide, or who is intending to provide care
of which the recipient of the grant is in need by reason of disability or infirmity,
Use of other schemes
An applicant for a disabled facilities grant will be expected to apply for any other
schemes that are available to help meet the requirements of the disabled person. For
example, if there is a suitable stair lift scheme available at the time of the enquiry, the
applicant will be expected to apply to that scheme if a stair lift is necessary rather
than using the disabled facilities grant. It is expected that this will be quicker and
provide a more suitable outcome for the applicant in terms of waiting times and cost
effectiveness. The Grant Officer will discuss any alternative schemes with the
applicant at the time of the initial visit.
Housing Association Tenants
All disabled people are entitled to make an application for a disabled facilities grant
regardless of tenure. However, housing association tenants are expected to
approach their housing association in the first instance. Housing Associations are
expected to maintain their own housing stock and provide funding towards the cost of
adaptations where possible.

Page 68

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
Council Tenants
The council has a separate process for council tenants as adaptations are funded
differently. East Kent Housing will arrange the adaptation of council homes without
going through the DFG process.

4.

Discretionary Top-up Funding (to supplement Disabled Facilities Grants)
Discretionary assistance is only offered subject to sufficient funds being available.
The Discretionary Funding offered here is paid under the council’s Housing
Assistance scheme and the rules governing eligibility and repayment differ from the
statutory DFG scheme described above.
In some cases it is not possible for the works specified under a DFG to go ahead for a
variety of reasons. In such cases it may be possible to award discretionary
assistance to top-up or replace the mandatory grant as shown below:
i)

Repairs or other works which are essential to allow the works specified under a
mandatory DFG to go ahead or to be completed. (eg re-wiring or repairs to rotted
floors)
The applicant, if s/he is an owner, will be asked to pay for such repairs from their
own resources but if there is insufficient funding for this to happen then
discretionary top-up funding in the form of an interest-free repayable grant may be
awarded to pay the repair costs up to a maximum of £10,000.
If the applicant is a tenant then the landlord will be asked to do the repairs and
may, if s/he wishes, apply for a repayable grant as above which will be repayable
in full if the property is sold within 10 years.

ii) To pay all or some of the applicant’s contribution towards the costs of a
mandatory DFG where the necessary funding is not available or cannot
reasonably be borrowed elsewhere. The assistance will be an interest-free
repayable grant of up to £20,000.
iii) To pay the reasonably-incurred top-up costs where the necessary works cost in
excess of the mandatory grant limit (currently £30,000) and the necessary
funding is not available or cannot reasonably be borrowed elsewhere.
The applicant will be asked to undertake the statutory means test for a Disabled
Facilities Grant and/or provide other details of their household’s financial
resources to demonstrate there is financial hardship, even in children’s cases.
The maximum assistance will be an interest-free repayable grant of £20,000.
iv) To pay for works that the KCC Occupational Therapist recommends as essential
for the needs of the disabled person but which fall outside the scope of
mandatory grants (see Appendix A) and the necessary funding is not available
or cannot reasonably be borrowed elsewhere.

Page 69

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
The applicant will be asked to undertake the statutory means test for a Disabled
Facilities Grant and/or provide other details of their household’s financial
resources to demonstrate there is financial hardship, even in children’s cases. If
the applicant could afford to pay for these works but declines to do so then the
DFG will be awarded omitting the works in question. The maximum assistance
will be an interest-free repayable grant of £20,000.
v) Moving costs to allow a disabled person to relocate where adaptation of their
existing home is not reasonable or practicable.
The assistance will only be offered where it can be shown that financial hardship
would be caused to the applicant if they had to find another suitable property
within their existing resources. The applicant will be asked to undertake the
statutory means test for a Disabled Facilities Grant and/or provide other financial
details to demonstrate that there would be hardship.
The assistance, in the form of an interest-free repayable grant up to £20,000, will
pay for legal and moving costs and any agreed reasonable additional cost to
purchase a more suitable property. Social Services and the Council must agree
the suitability of the new property. If the new property requires adaptation, a
Disabled Facilities Grant may also be offered.
The finance will normally be paid on completion of the purchase of the property.
In exceptional cases some or all of the repayable grant may be released to the
applicant’s solicitor at exchange of contracts stage.
A DFG applicant who is the owner of the property may apply for any of the above
types of assistance in the form of an interest free repayable grant which is repayable
in full if the property is sold within 10 years. Tenants will not normally be eligible for
this assistance.
For the avoidance of doubt, where applicants apply for any discretionary top-up
funding the first £6,000 of their savings or capital will be disregarded but any financial
resources above this will be deemed to be available to contribute towards the cost of
the work.
Where the DFG is a tenant’s application their landlord may, if he wishes, apply for a
repayable grant to help him carry out the repairs at (i) above to a standard agreed by
the council. If approved, the grant will be interest-free. The criteria for grants to
landlords are
● The property must be licensed where appropriate
● The landlord must have complied with any statutory notices served on him
within the last five years
In all cases where a loan is offered, it will be repayable in full if the property is sold
within 10 years and will be binding on any person who is, for the time being, an owner
of the property. It will be secured as a local land charge until repayment has been
made or the council has waived its right to repayment.
In the case of repayable grants to landlords, the grant will also become repayable if
the tenant is served with a s.21 notice within 10 years of the grant being awarded.

Page 70

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
If, at the time repayment is due, the applicant feels unable to repay the grant, they
must contact the council. There are statutory rules governing repayment. In particular
the council must look at the applicants financial position before demanding the money
back, and satisfy themselves that they have the means to pay and that it would be
reasonable to ask for repayment.
5.

Other kinds of Financial Assistance
a)

Stairlift Grant

Where there is an urgent need for a stairlift in a disabled person’s home, a grant of up
to £7,000 will be provided for a stairlift in the following cases;
a) Where lack of a working stairlift in their home is delaying the discharge of a
disabled patient from hospital.
b) Where a person can reasonably be expected to become disabled following an
operation (such as leg amputation) and a stairlift is required before the person
can be discharged.
The grant has no conditions and no means test is applied. The grant can be accessed
by owner occupiers and private tenants (with the landlord’s permission). The request
for a stairlift will be subject to a home assessment by a suitably qualified person such
as an Occupational Therapist. A warranty and service agreement will normally be
provided initially, but the responsibility for the lift’s long-term maintenance and
servicing would rest with the grant recipient. The Council have the right to choose a
preferred contractor to supply and fit the lift.
b)

Winter warmth grant

This is intended primarily to reduce the number of cold homes occupied by older
people with a long term health condition. It will pay for heating or insulation (normally
replacement boilers and/or heating) where the applicant has a long term illness and is
aged over 60. Younger people, especially families with children under 5 years of age,
can apply if their condition requires the provision of space heating at a constant
temperature. The maximum grant is £10,000. Confirmation is required that the
applicant has a long-term health condition. The following conditions apply:
● The grant is subject to repayment conditions for 10 years from the date of
payment.
● During the 10 year condition period, the grant becomes repayable in full if the
property is sold, and the applicants no longer occupy the property.
● This is normally only available to owner occupiers.
● In certain cases, where there is no prospect of getting the landlord to carry out
the work, a tenant may apply and if successful may be awarded a grant.
c)

County-wide energy efficiency and closely related schemes

Thanet is a member of the Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership (KEEP) which is able,
from time to time, to negotiate benefits which can be offered to residents across Kent.
Examples include collective switching schemes, ECO schemes, LA Flex, etc. These
benefits are often co-ordinated by KCC, requiring no financial input from District
Councils, except officer time to publicise the schemes and make referrals.
d)

Urgent Home Repair grant

Page 71

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
An interest free repayable grant may be awarded to owner-occupiers whose
properties have a serious hazard (category 1) likely to cause harm. The hazard will
be assessed using the statutory Housing Health and Safety Rating System.
Examples of the kind of repairs envisaged include repairing roofs, re-wiring and
treating dry rot outbreaks.
The qualifying criteria are
● Owners who are in receipt of a means tested benefit, or
● Owners who are expected to make a financial contribution of less than
£10,000 using the statutory (DFG) means test but who do not have this sum
available and cannot reasonably borrow the sum required on the open market.
The maximum repayable grant is £20,000. The eligible works are those which
eliminate the serious hazard(s) in the property. The grant is repayable if the property
is sold within 10 years and the applicant(s) will no longer live there. See section 7.
The grant will normally be registered as a local land charge. Landlords and tenants
are not eligible to apply.
d)

Home Enablement Service

The Council will provide funding for a free service to hospital patients which is
intended to facilitate earlier discharge from hospital back to the home environment,
where there is a housing-related issue which is preventing them from being
discharged, or to improve the home environment to prevent hospital admission in the
first place.
Normally referrals for the service will originate from the local hospitals, Care
Navigators, GPs, Occupational Therapists and health trainers. The service will
enable earlier discharge from hospital by providing improvements to the home
environment. Examples of the works envisaged include installation of key safes,
handrails, clearing a room to make it safe to move around in (including tackling
hoarding), bringing a bed from upstairs to a downstairs room, fitting locks to doors
and windows, minor heating alterations, etc.
e)

Handyperson Scheme

The Home Improvement Agency already provides a paid-for Handyperson Scheme.
The service covers minor repairs, security and health and safety works for home
owners and private sector tenants over 55 years old, who are either vulnerable or
who have a physical or mental disability which prevents them undertaking the works
themselves.
The scheme is not an emergency call out service, nor does it address gas/electrical
works, or carry out external repairs above two storeys high. If funding permits, the
council may provide financial assistance to enable the handyman service to charge
subsidised rates to clients on low incomes to assist with minor works that will remove
hazards in the home or minor adaptations to help a disabled person remain
independent in their home
6.

Empty Property Loans

Page 72

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
There are a number of options available to owners of empty homes to access funding
to assist them in bringing an empty property back into use. Thanet District Council is
a partner in the successful No Use Empty campaign that was set up by Kent County
Council in 2005. This scheme provides loans to owners of empty properties for
renovation and/or conversion works. The owner is then required to rent the property
either privately or through a partner housing association, or sell the property on the
open market. For more information on this scheme please visit
www.no-use-empty.org
Based on this existing scheme Thanet District Council has implemented a loan
specifically for those people who have purchased an empty property and intend to
live in it themselves. This loan is being funded by Thanet District Council but
administered by Kent County Council through the No Use Empty process. This
section of the policy covers the loan funded by Thanet District Council.
Loan process and conditions
An interest free loan may be offered, up to a maximum value of £20k, which is to be
repaid over a term of between 5 to 10 years. The loan conditions stipulate that the
applicant must reside in the property for the duration of the loan repayment period.
Anyone interested in applying for a loan may contact the council or KCC directly. An
application pack will then be sent out and visits arranged to view the property and
determine a scheme of works.
The property must be renovated to the Decent Homes Standard, and applicants must
also be able to demonstrate that the loan amount will be adequate to bring the
property back into use to this standard. If the cost of the work is likely to exceed the
maximum loan then the applicant must be able to prove that sufficient personal funds
are available to use in conjunction with the loan to complete the project.
The loan will be secured by way of a legal charge on the property for which the loan
has been applied. Loan repayments commence 30 days after the loan monies are
paid to the applicant and will be interest free, providing there is no default over the
approved repayment period. The loan repayment period will be variable, between 5
and 10 years, and this is dependent on the amount borrowed. The applicant will also
be required to live in the property for the duration of the loan payback period.
The loan is offered in such a way as to provide the applicant with full control of the
expenditure of the loan. This is achieved by either granting a 100% of the loan as an
upfront payment or 50% upfront payment and then two 25% tranches once the
applicant can prove expenditure of the monies is compliant with the loan terms and
conditions. Each of these options will depend on individual circumstances and the
amount borrowed.
Should the applicant default on a payment, then interest at the Bank of England base
rate +4% will accrue from the date of the default. Should the owner vacate the
property or sublet, the owner will be in breach of the loan terms and therefore be in
default, interest will then be charged from the date of the default and the full
outstanding loan amount will be repayable. This is enforced through the property
charge.

Page 73

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
Qualifying criteria for an empty property loan for owner-occupiers:
● The property must have been empty for more than 6 months
● Property must be in the intervention area of the wards of Cliftonville West or
Margate Central.
● The property must be brought back into use as a residential dwelling.
● The applicant will be required to live in the property for the duration of the
loan repayment period.
● Loans are secured by way of a charge on the property, either as a 1st
charge or as a 2nd charge with the consent of the holder of the 1st charge.
● Loan applications must be accompanied by a quotation for the works which
is to show the work is achievable for the sum borrowed.
● If the work value is greater than the loan amount then the applicant must
show evidence that they have the personal funds to make up the deficit.
● The loan can either be made available as a 100% upfront payment, a 50%
upfront payment and 2 tranches of 25% following evidence of successful
expenditure. (Dependant on individual circumstances and amount
borrowed).
Fees and Loan Amount
A maximum loan of £20,000 is available per property. There are no fees for the
applicant in applying for the loan, although if significant alterations are required to the
property then planning and building control fees may apply.
All fees associated with the organising of the loan agreement will be covered by the
council. This includes the fees for registering the charge against the property with the
land registry and KCC legal fees for administering the loan.

7.

Conditions for Assistance for all the above types of grants and loans
All grant and repayable grant applications, except DFGs and Empty Property Loans,
must be made through the Thanet Home Improvement Agency who are co-ordinating
all grant activity under this policy in the Thanet area.

Eligible Applicants
People who are eligible to apply for grants and loans are freeholders and long
leaseholders with at least 5 years of their lease still to run. A tenant can only apply for
disability-related grants or other types where specifically stated above.
Except in the case of Empty Property assistance, the property must be the sole or
main residence of the applicant or a member of their family.
Making an Application
Applications for assistance must be on the forms published by the Council.
Estimates and invoices cannot be accepted if they come from the applicant or a
member of their family. In exceptional cases assistance may be payable towards DIY
works, but this will be for the cost of materials only.

Page 74

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
Eligible Works
Eligible works means the works that are identified by the Grants Officer or the
Surveyor from the Home Improvement Agency with reference to the Council’s policy.
Grant applications will not be approved where works have already started or where
the job has already been promised to a particular builder. To qualify for a grant, the
scheme of work must have been drawn up first, with the knowledge and agreement of
the Grants Officer and with input from the Occupational Therapist (where appropriate)
then sent out at the same time to at least three different contractors of similar size
and VAT status to obtain competitive tenders.
Any costs which would be eligible for assistance under an insurance claim or third
party claim, will not attract grant assistance. In exceptional cases assistance may be
given on condition it is repaid out of the proceeds of any future claim.
Works outside the curtilage of the property are not normally eligible for assistance
unless they relate to the provision of essential services such as water, gas or
electricity or access for a disabled person.
Notification of Approval of Assistance
The Council, or an organisation acting on the Council’s behalf, will notify an applicant
in writing whether the application for assistance is approved or refused. The
notification will be provided as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt of a
completed application.
The approval will specify the amount of assistance, the amount that is not eligible, the
applicant’s contribution (if any) towards the eligible costs and the expiry date of the
assistance. Assistance is not transferable to another person on the sale of the
property.
If an application is refused, the reasons for refusal will be given.

Amount of Assistance
The council may specify the maximum amount of assistance it is prepared to offer for
different types of grants or loans. These maximum amounts are inclusive of all costs
including Value Added Tax and fees.
If the Council is satisfied that owing to circumstances beyond the control of the
applicant, the work has increased in cost, it may increase the assistance subject to
the maximum limits allowed. The Council will only increase the amount of assistance
if it’s consent to any increase has been sought before the additional works are carried
out, and the surveyor has had the opportunity to inspect.
In cases where eligible costs have reduced, the assistance will also be reduced
accordingly and the applicant informed in writing as soon as possible.
.

Page 75

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
Responsibility for Works and Supervision of builders
The contract for the building works will always be between the applicant and their
chosen contractor but most applicants employ a surveyor to supervise the works for
them. The Council’s role is only to administer the grant/loan scheme and to provide
finance. The council does not have any contract with the builder. Inspections may
take place to make sure the works are carried out according to the specification of
work and in accordance with good building practice. However, the Council and its
officers are not liable for any poor workmanship and do not provide any guarantee.
Any faults with the works will be a matter between the applicant and their contractor.
Where eligible works are not carried out to an acceptable standard, the Council may
withhold monies. If appropriate, the council may pay outstanding monies direct to the
applicant instead of the contractor so that they can employ a different builder to
complete the works to an acceptable standard.
Conditions for Payment
Assistance will only be paid if:
(a)

The work is completed within the time stated in the approval or such further
period the council may allow. This must be confirmed in writing. This period is
normally 12 months from approval,

(b)

The work is carried out by one of the contractors whose estimate
accompanied the application. The Council will normally base the amount of
assistance on the lowest estimate submitted.

(c)

The works have been completed to a satisfactory standard and in accordance
with the grant offer and estimates,

(d)

The Council is provided with an acceptable invoice or receipt for payment for
the works or fees. The invoice must include full details of the builder/surveyor
employed including VAT registration and bank details. The applicant or a
member of his family cannot submit an invoice, it must come from a person or
company not connected to the applicant in any way.

Interim payments will not normally be paid, except where there are very extensive
works.
Payments can only be made for work actually completed and not for materials on site
that have not yet been used or installed. Eligible works must have been carried out to
the satisfaction of the council and an acceptable invoice supplied.
Normally grant payments are paid by bank transfer direct to the builder and/or
surveyor. In very exceptional cases payment may be made to the applicant or
another third party where the applicant has already paid such costs.

Grant and Loan Conditions

Page 76

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
Grants and loans for owner-occupiers and leaseholders will normally be registered as
a Local Land Charge. Grants and loans most commonly become repayable in the
following circumstances:
●

On disposal of the property following the death of the applicant or, in the case of
joint applicants, on the death of both applicants;

●

On disposal of the relevant dwelling where the applicant has vacated the property
and no longer intends to live there.

●

If the property is not occupied in accordance with the certificate of future
occupation or loan agreement.

Grants and loans are normally routinely repaid from the proceeds of sale when the
sale of the property is taking place. In exceptional circumstances the council may
exercise discretion not to require repayment, or require a lesser amount. If the
property is to be sold but the vendor feels he cannot afford to repay the grant he may
make representations in writing to the Grants Officer in the first instance. In order to
make a successful case for a waiver or a reduced repayment he would usually be
expected to show that after purchasing the new property, he could not afford to repay
the grant without having to resort to further borrowing.
have been completed then no further grant or loan payments will be made and any
interim payments already made must be repaid to the Council on demand.
If the grant or loan applicant ceases to be entitled to the grant or loan before works
In all such cases, the applicant will be informed of the appeal procedure against any
decision.
Delegated Powers connected with grants or loans
The Head of Housing services, in consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder, may
exercise discretion to
approve discretionary grants and loans above the maximum limits in
exceptional circumstances, or generally to reflect rising costs and
vary the qualifying criteria in individual cases where it appears to him that
some informality, defect or error in this policy is preventing someone from
qualifying for assistance in circumstances where their case otherwise satisfies
the spirit of the policy.
Where there are no financial implications, to allow other organisations (such
as the HIA or KCC) to act on behalf of TDC in promoting grant or loan
schemes contained within this policy
determine whether or not to waive repayment of grants or loans in exceptional
cases in accordance with statutory provisions, having taken into account any
representations made by applicants

8.

Definitions

Page 77

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
Means Tested Benefit
At the time this policy was written the relevant means tested benefits were the
following:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Working Tax Credit (with an income less than £17,700);
Child Tax Credit (with an income less than £16,190);
Housing Benefit;
Income Support;
Income based Job Seekers Allowance;
The guarantee credit component of Pension Credit;
Income-based Employment and Support Allowance;
Universal Credit.

Certified Date
This is the date when the work is signed-off by the surveyor or the grants officer as
having been satisfactorily completed.
Disposal
A disposal includes the whole or part of the property.
9.

In case of disagreement
You can ask for our decision to be reviewed in the following cases:
● In the event of disagreement with a decision,
● There has been some error or excessive delay in the processing of a loan or
grant,
● Where repayment of the loan or grant would cause undue hardship.
In the first instance you should put your case in writing to:
The Grants Officer
Thanet District Council
P. O. Box 9
Margate
CT9 1XZ
who will normally respond within 21 working days giving our decision.
If you are still unhappy with our decision then you should contact the Head of
Housing to make a formal complaint through the Council’s complaints procedure..
These conditions are dated October 2018.

Appendix A
Housing Grants Construction & Regeneration Act 1996
Guidance on the works that could attract a mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant

Page 78

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
Following consultation between Kent Local Authorities who administer Disabled Facility
Grants, it has been agreed that the following works can attract Mandatory DFG funding.
The following categories of adaptation are detailed in the Housing Grants, Construction and
Regeneration Act 1996 as being works which must be considered for grant assistance.
Where costs are likely to exceed £30,000 Local Authorities will need to take extra care to
establish if the proposals are “reasonable and practicable.”
The mandatory grant limit is £30,000
Facilitating access
1. Facilitating access by the disabled occupant
to and from the dwelling
to a room used or usable as the principle family room
to a room used for or usable for sleeping
to a room in which there is a lavatory
to a room in which there is a bath or shower
to a room with a wash hand basin
Such works may include:
●

Ramping and/or handrails to the main external door. This could instead be a rear
door in the case of a rear access. Only one access point will be allowed for each
dwelling. External stairlifts will be considered if reasonably practicable and they are
not prone to vandalism. Handrails under £1,000 are to be the responsibility of Social
Services unless they are in conjunction with a ramp.

●

Widening the main entrance door and the doorways to the bedroom, bathroom and
living room. Automatic door opening to main entrance doors will only be allowed for
persons who are otherwise unable to open the door. Door entry systems will be
considered where the person has severe mobility problems.

●

Alterations to facilitate wheelchair access to the bedroom, bathroom and living room.
Access to other rooms may be considered where the disabled person is a carer.

●

Other adaptations that are necessary to facilitate access to any of the relevant rooms
by the disabled person, for example, stairlifts or vertical lifts in some cases. Where a
stairlift breaks down and it is 5-10 years old, a manufactures report is needed before
it can be replaced. If it is over 10 years, a report may not be required. It is considered
good practice to include a 5-year extended warranty/service contract with all new lifts.

●

Provision of hard standings (normally 3.6 x 4.8 max) and associated crossover for
vehicle access where the disabled person is in a wheelchair or has difficulty walking
to the house. This will only be given where existing on-street parking is considered
unsatisfactory and a marked disabled parking bay is not possible or where it affords a
more economic solution than providing additional paths/ramping from the roadside. It

Page 79

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
is usually cheaper to put a marked disabled parking bay outside the house compared
to providing a hard standing. Provision of off-street parking is not, in itself, a
mandatory item. Please note: Being a holder of a blue badge is not the eligibility
criterion for this item.

Washing facilities
2. Facilitating the use of washing facilities by the disabled occupant
●

Adaptation of the facilities in the bathroom and toilet, including the provision of flush
floor showers, lever taps, specialist WCs, Clos-o-mat or Geberit etc. The adaptation
or provision of more than one bathroom to a house e.g. additional ground floor wc,
will only be considered if evidenced by functional need.

●

An electric fan heater should be provided to the bathroom/shower room in addition to
a radiator as long as it does not contravene IEE regulations for wet areas.

Kitchen Facilities
3. Facilitating the preparation and cooking of food
●

Where someone other than the disabled person does and will continue to do the
cooking and preparation of meals, normally it will not be necessary to carry out full
adaptations. However, it may be possible to carry out minor adaptations to allow the
disabled person to prepare light meals or hot drinks, typically this may include a
low-level worktop with power points for a kettle/microwave.

●

Full adaptations can be considered where the disabled person is the only or main
user of the kitchen. The following adaptations can be considered:
a. Kitchen sink, including alteration to its height or position or the type of taps
fitted to it. Powered, adjustable-height sinks will not generally be allowed, as
the provision of a second sink is a more economic solution.
b. Cooker point and oven-housing unit ensuring its height and position is in a
safe location and the provision of worktops on either side.
c. Work surfaces located beside the sink and on each side of the cooker having
a total length of approximately 1.5m, all at a suitable height for the disabled
person.
d. Food storage in an accessible position, usually space for a refrigerator with
power supply.
e. Wheelchair access, if necessary, including wider doors, rearrangement of
facilities etc.
f.

Alterations to the kitchen door, light switches and power points, but only if it is
necessary.

Page 80

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
g. Extensions or enlargement to kitchens can only be agreed where they are
absolutely necessary in order to provide turning space for a wheelchair and if
suitable space cannot be achieved by rearrangement of the existing facilities.
h. The provision of cupboard and storage units on an "essential" basis. (2x1m
base units and baskets or equivalent).
i.

Mechanical ventilation where kitchen schemes require Building Regulation
approval.

Other works that will be considered
●

Alterations to the height and/or position of light switches and power points to make
them accessible to the disabled person.

●

Heating the rooms that are in everyday use by the disabled person where a medical
need can be demonstrated.

●

Possible upgrading/replacing of boilers where the property has been extended as
part of the adaptation.

●

Provision of laminated glass or specialist lighting or guards to fires and around
radiators where disabled children with violent behavioural problems may harm
themselves. Provision of enhanced fire alarm systems for those with hearing
difficulties.

●

Carrying out structural alterations where necessary to provide fixings for disabled
equipment provided by Social Services e.g. fixing for tracking /overhead hoists.

●

Where an adaptation is required to a listed building and additional works are required
to comply with requirements.

●

Where an adaptation cannot be carried out due to disrepair issues those repairs,
within reason, may be carried out. Such works may include replacement of rotted
flooring or strengthening of the floor as part of a flush floor shower installation,
electrical repairs to enable works to be carried out safely, and dealing with low water
pressure. Replacing defective drainage or a full rewire would not normally be eligible.

●

Additional bathrooms or bedrooms may be allowed where they are specifically for the
disabled person and it can be demonstrated that adaptation of other rooms or space
or access to those rooms in the property is unsuitable. Extensions will only be
allowed following a detailed cost/benefit analysis of alternative options.

●

In cases of small terraced properties with narrow passageways or very difficult
access, effective adaptation can only proceed where it can be reasonably and
practicably carried out without having a detrimental impact on neighbouring
properties.

●

Requests are sometimes received to provide separate bedrooms where disabled
children with behavioural difficulties share a room with other siblings and disturb their
sleep. This will only be considered under mandatory grant where it can be
demonstrated the child is prone to violent outbursts and there is risk of physical harm
to the child or to the other siblings. Families will first be expected to re-arrange the
sleeping arrangements in their home to try to eliminate the need for extra bedrooms.

Page 81

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
If there is more than one reception room the family will be expected to use the extra
room(s) for sleeping purposes.
Access to the Garden
●

In deciding the extent of providing access to the rear garden, the following will be
taken into account.

●

Grant assistance will not be given where there is already access to the garden but
grant may be given to improve an existing access to make it safe for the disabled
occupant to use. It does not include extending an existing access e.g. creating a side
access so a person can also go around the side of a house. Generally, the most
modest solution for providing access to both the house and the garden will be
considered and this can mean that one access may be sufficient to access both the
house and the garden. Where homes have communal gardens, e.g., blocks of flats
served by a single access, grants will not normally be provided for an individual
access to the garden unless it can be demonstrated that because of the disabled
persons condition the travel distance to the garden would be excessive and
unreasonable.

●

The grant will simply be for providing immediate access to the garden and does not
include landscaping gardens to make them more suitable for the disabled person to
access. However, to assist a disabled person to live independently, an allowance of 4
m² of pathway, (which may include a turning circle for a wheelchair user), will be
considered to assist access to any specific areas enjoyed by the disabled person.

●

See also the list of non-mandatory items in the next section relating to gardens etc.

General guidance on works considered non-mandatory

●

Generally, more extensive adaptations to the kitchen than those described
previously.

●

The provision of cupboards, storage units, breakfast bars, generally above and
beyond the standard that applies for mandatory grants.

●

White goods such as cookers and hobs, refrigerators, dishwashers, washing
machines and other equipment like waste disposal units.

●

Replacement of rooms or parts of rooms which have been "lost" by carrying out
adaptations (by way of explanation, where a ground floor living room or dining room
is converted into a bedroom with en suite shower room for a disabled person, the
construction of a "replacement" living room or dining room for use by the rest of the
family could not be grant aided on a mandatory basis.)

●

Fitments in rooms, for example built-in furniture like cupboards, wardrobes, storage
units etc.

●

Extensions to living rooms.

Page 82

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
●

Provision of secondary access from dwelling house, formation of patios, garden paths
etc. walkways from garages and sheds. 2nd access – would need very exceptional
circumstances to allow this.

●

Storage areas and charging points for wheelchair/ scooters.

●

Provision of treatment rooms

●

Provision of pager systems linked to doorbells or telephones for the profoundly deaf.

●

Floor coverings (except thermo-plastic tiles or similar permanent floor finish to
bathroom area and sometimes kitchen and hallway where a wheelchair is to be
used).

●

Provision of disabled aids and equipment that can be fitted with little or no structural
alterations. These are likely to be able to be removed fairly easily and re-used if the
disabled person should decide to move in the future.

●

Non-fixed aids, e.g. bath hoists can be funded by KCC as equipment but some
authorities allow it as discretionary.

●

Hard standings where required only as a Planning Condition

●

Air conditioning.

●

CCTV

●

Creating a safe play area and/or fences other than in very exceptional cases

●

Storage areas for example scooters, wheelchairs, children’s equipment.

●

Portable/non-fixed items.

●

Drop kerbs, hard standings and ramps for non- wheelchair users/non-drivers.

●

Minor adaptations up to the value of £1,000 which are obtainable from Social
Services, Occupational Therapy Service

●

Formation of Patios

●

Walkways to and from garages or scooter storage areas

●

Formation of bin store areas

●

Provision of clothes drying facilities

●

General provision of external lighting

Page 83

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
Appendix B

Guidance and code of Practice for Agents/Advisors acting on behalf of clients
wishing to access grants and loans
It is the role of agents/advisors to act on behalf of the client in designing adaptations or a
scheme of work, obtaining consents and securing the services of suitable builders, leading
eventually to the satisfactory completion of works. The works carried out are expected to
satisfy the grant conditions and adaptation objectives of both the clients and the
Occupational Therapist and meet the quality standards demanded by an ordinary reasonable
person.
It is expected that the advisor/agent will work in a collaborative way with the Local Authority
over the delivery of adaptations. They should acknowledge and understand the rationale
and practicalities of managing expenditure and the need to demonstrate “fairness” to all
applicants.
The Local authority is usually able to pay or contribute towards the fees charged by the
applicant’s Agent for drawing plans, obtaining estimates, etc. Thanet District Council will
only pay fees up to the level that would have been payable if the Home Improvement Agency
had been appointed as the agent.
It is expected that all advisors/agents will broadly satisfy the criteria below. Inappropriate
advisors/agents often necessitate considerable extra input from the Local Authority, which is
of little benefit either to the client or to the Local Authority. The Local Authority will determine
to whom fees will be paid and their decision will be final. Grant applicants are, of course,
free to enlist the assistance of anyone they would like to help them on a non-fee-paying
basis.
The agent should:
●

Have experience of designing for the disabled

●

Provide evidence of working collaboratively with a Local Authority or similar
organisation

●

Provide evidence of up-to-date DBS checks or a suitable reference from another
Local Authority or similar organisation

●

Provide evidence of appropriate insurances

●

Provide evidence of an appropriate customer care charter

●

Provide evidence of an equal opportunities policy

●

Provide evidence of their vetting procedures for contractors

●

Have evidence of current professional qualifications or registration where appropriate,
and compliance with appropriate codes of conduct (e.g. RIBA, RICS, etc.)

●

Provide details of complaints procedure and dispute resolution processes

Page 84

Agenda Item 9
Annex 1
● Meet financial viability criteria
Agents must always treat clients with respect and dignity, acknowledging the specific needs
of the client group.
Contractors should be checked by the advisor/agent to ensure they have adequate public
liability and employee liability insurance and have a health & safety policy and any other
legislative policies. Details should be maintained of sub-contractors tax certificate or CIS
registration, and any details on NICEIC, Gas Safe, FENSA etc. registrations. ( and VAT
registration number if applicable.)
The checking of all such certificates and policies should be carried out periodically, not
exceeding annually and appropriate records of the checking process must be maintained
and be produced to the Local Authority on demand.

Page 85

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Annex 2

Full Equality Impact Analysis
Title of review

Housing Assistance Policy
Deals with mandatory DFGs and discretionary assistance
to be awarded under the Regulatory Reform Order

Service

Thanet District Council , Housing and Planning

Date of review

May 2019

Date of
review

next May 2020

Lead
officer, Amena Matin,
Job Title and Council
Service

Housing Strategy and Projects Manager, Thanet District

Review team

Scope of the TDC Housing Assistance Policy governing the award of financial assistance
analysis
to householders, for the adaptation, repair and improvement of their homes.

Beneficiaries

Householders in Thanet District Council’s area with the exception of council
tenants for whom a separate aids and adaptations programme has been set
up.

Stakeholders

Stakeholders to include
-

Applicants for grants

-

Grants staff - Thanet District Council

-

Thanet Home Improvement Agency

Relevant data
and research

KCC have identified a need for a more streamlined service in East Kent and
this can be facilitated by adopting a common Housing Assistance Policy in all
the council areas, enabling householders in East Kent to receive similar
assistance no matter which council’s area they live in. This Policy is
deliberately similar to other East Kent councils’ Policies.

Access
complaints

Complaints have been made about the exclusion of council tenants from the
grants programme. In mitigation, this Council (and most other stock-holding
Councils) have set up an aids and adaptations programme specifically for

Page 87

Agenda Item 9
Annex 2
their own tenants to adapt the homes of disabled tenants without any
means-testing. Financial regulations prohibit the council from using its
Disabled Facilities Grant budget for any work on the council's own housing
stock so the aids and adaptations programme is separately funded. As a
consequence Council tenants have access to an adaptations programme
which is free of charge, largely stress-free and without financial risk to
themselves.
Consultation

Consultation has taken place within TDC with the Grants Officer.

Results
of Amendments were made to ensure the resulting workload is manageable.
consultation

Relevance to the Duty:

1.

Eliminate unlawful discrimination – harassment, victimisation and any other conduct
prohibited by the Act;

The Housing Assistance Policy does not harass, victimise or condone any other conduct
prohibited by the act.
2.

Advance equality of opportunity – between people who share a protected characteristic
and people who do not share it by;

The policy promotes equality by facilitating adaptations to the homes of people with disabilities
in order that they may have full use of the premises and the facilities within the dwelling.
3.

Foster good relations – between people who share a protected characteristic and people
who do not share it, by; tackling prejudice and promoting understanding between people
with a protected characteristic and others.

The Policy allows for individuals to be supported to remain in their home and without recourse to
leave the communities, that often many have lived in for years. This enables the resident to
continue to live independently and integrated within the district.
Equality impacts raised or identified:
The proposal to adopt a new Housing Assistance Policy does not have a positive or negative
effect on staff or external customers.
Protected
Characteristic

Commentary

Age

Impact

The proposal to adopt a new Housing Assistance Policy does
not discriminate between ages of applicants.

Mitigation

None needed

Impact

This proposal to adopt a new Housing Assistance Policy will
have a positive outcome irrelevant of gender.

Mitigation

None needed

Gender

Page 88

Agenda Item 9
Annex 2
Race

Disability

Religion
belief

This proposal to adopt a new Housing Assistance Policy will
have a positive outcome irrelevant of race.

Mitigation

None needed

Impact

This proposal to adopt a new Housing Assistance Policy has a
positive impact on customers with a disability as the new Policy
addresses shortcomings in the scope of the old Policy.

Mitigation

None Needed

or Impact

Gender
reassignment

Sexual
Orientation

Impact

This proposal to adopt a new Housing Assistance Policy will
have a positive outcome irrelevant to religious beliefs.

Mitigation

None needed

Impact

This proposal to adopt a new Housing Assistance Policy will
have a positive outcome irrelevant of gender reassignment.

Mitigation

None needed

Impact

This proposal to adopt a new Housing Assistance Policy will
have a positive outcome irrelevant of sexual orientation.

Mitigation

None needed

Marriage
& Impact
Civil
Partnership
(Aim 1 only)
Mitigation

This proposal to adopt a new Housing Assistance Policy will
have a positive outcome irrelevant of marriage and civil
partnership.

Pregnancy & Impact
Maternity (Aim
1 only)
Mitigation

This proposal to adopt a new Housing Assistance Policy will
have a positive outcome irrelevant of pregnancy and maternity

None needed

None needed

Overall conclusions and options to be put before decision maker (if contributing towards
a report) or to take forward to develop your service (if reviewing a service)

The Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken to ensure that the proposal to
adopt a new Housing Assistance Policy does not have a negative impact on its existing
residents, tenants and future customers. The proposal will not have a negative impact
on any groups with protected characteristics.
Actions arising from analysis:
Action

Responsible
Officer

To undertake equality impact assessments throughout the Steve King
grant application procedures, to ensure there is not a negative
impact to existing residents.

Page 89

Deadline
May 2020

Agenda Item 9
Annex 2

Acceptance
Name and signature of assessing officer and date of assessment.
Name:
Signed:

Steve King,

Position: Grants Officer
Date:

May 2019

Page 90

Agenda Item 10
Enabling the delivery of homes to meet the needs of local people
Cabinet

25 July 2019

Report Author

Tim Willis, Deputy Chief Executive

Portfolio Holder

Cllr Lesley Game, Cabinet Member for Housing and Safer
Neighbourhoods

Status

For Decision

Classification:

Unrestricted

Key Decision

Yes

Reasons for Key

Expenditure not in budget

Ward:

All

Executive Summary:
This report considers the purpose of the council establishing a new housing company and
recommends that the principle of establishing a wholly owned housing company be
approved, to:
●
Enable the delivery of new homes, that would otherwise not be delivered, with
the ability to directly acquire land and construct homes.
●
Acquire homes with the aim of improving conditions, management standards
and affordability for the benefit of residents.
●
Supplement existing housing programmes and funding within the council’s
HRA.
●
Offer a wider range of housing tenures and costs, in addition to existing
provision.
●
Create a financially viable and sustainable vehicle for the acquisition,
development and management of housing.
The report sets out the further decision making required and details the necessary work and
controlling documents that will be needed to establish a wholly owned company. It highlights
potential areas of risk and recommends that specialist external advice is taken to
appropriately manage these risks.
The report sets out a time table of activity, leading up to the new company being ready to
start trading by 1 April 2020 and recommends an initial budget of £50,000 to fund the
necessary set up work.
The report recommends that officers report back to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee,
Cabinet and Full Council at key points in the process, as set out in annex 1.

Page 91

Agenda Item 10
Recommendation(s):
It is recommended the Cabinet agree to:
1. Support the purposes for setting up a housing company to:
a. Enable the delivery of new homes, that would otherwise not be delivered, with
the ability to directly acquire land and construct homes.
b. Acquire homes with the aim of improving conditions, management standards
and affordability for the benefit of residents.
c. Supplement existing housing programmes and funding within the council’s
HRA.
d. Offer a wider range of housing tenures and costs, in addition to existing
provision.
e. Create a financially viable and sustainable vehicle for the acquisition,
development and management of housing.
f. Such other purposes which are ancillary to the above purposes
2. Allocate an initial set-up budget for the housing company of £50,000, to be funded
from the Business Rates Equalisation Reserve, and delegate authority to the Deputy
Chief Executive to approve expenditure against this budget.

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS
Financial and
The recommendation to agree in principle to establish a wholly owned
Value for
housing company requires an initial investment of £50,000 for set-up
Money
costs, which can be met by the Business Rates Equalisation reserve.
Beyond this, the establishment of a housing company would provide the
opportunity for a financial return primarily in the form of dividends to be
provided to the council, further diversifying the council’s income base.
Such a further source of income would aid the council’s financial
sustainability, particularly in light of on-going reductions in central
government funding.

Legal

Any subsequent investment will be subject to further approval from
members, with consideration given to the potential risks and benefits.
The Council can rely upon the general power of competence within the
Localism Act 2011 to form the housing company for operating a business
to let homes at market rent or to provide homes for market sale.
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 provides local authorities with the
power to do anything an individual may do, subject to a number of
limitations. This is referred to as the ‘general power of competence’.

Corporate

A local authority may exercise the general power of competence for its
own purpose, for a commercial purpose and/or for the benefit of others i.e.
this includes the setting up of a housing company. In exercising this
power, a local authority is still subject to its general duties (such as the
fiduciary duties it owes to its rate and local tax payers) and to the public
law requirements to exercise the general power of competence for a
proper purpose.
The recommendations set out in this report support the council’s ambitions
to enable the delivery of homes in the district to meet the needs of local
people. The financial arrangements will ensure that the new company

Page 92

Agenda Item 10
provides a viable and sustainable vehicle for the provision of housing, and
has the potential to return any surplus profit to the council.
Equality
Act Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector
2010 & Public Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to
Sector Equality the aims of the Duty at the time the decision is taken. The aims of the Duty
Duty
are: (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance equality of opportunity
between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do
not share it, and (iii) foster good relations between people who share a
protected characteristic and people who do not share it.
Protected characteristics: age, sex, disability, race, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, religion or belief and pregnancy & maternity. Only
aim (i) of the Duty applies to Marriage & civil partnership.
Please indicate which aim is relevant to the report.
Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
other conduct prohibited by the Act,
Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a ✓
protected characteristic and people who do not share it
Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and people who do not share it.
It is anticipated that the council’s new housing company will develop
policies and programmes that enhance the housing opportunities for
people with protected characteristics in the community.
A detailed impact assessment will be completed alongside the detailed
proposals and presented to members for consideration.

CORPORATE PRIORITIES (tick
those relevant)✓
A clean and welcoming
Environment
Promoting inward investment and
job creation
Supporting neighbourhoods
✓

CORPORATE VALUES
those relevant)✓
Delivering value for money

(tick
✓

Supporting the Workforce
Promoting open communications

1.0

Introduction and Background

1.1

The council has identified that enabling the delivery of homes to meet the needs of
local people is a key priority. There are examples from around the country of councils
establishing wholly owned housing companies to assist in delivering this ambition.
This report explores the potential benefits of TDC establishing a wholly owned
housing company. It recommends, in principle, that a housing company is established
by the council and that further work is completed and reported to Cabinet and Full
Council later in 2019.

1.2

Housing companies have the potential to provide councils with greater flexibility about
the management of homes owned by the company. For example, the company would
have flexibility about tenure and rent levels and have the ability to trade for profit.

Page 93

Agenda Item 10

1.3

Central Government generally expects councils with Housing Revenue Accounts
(HRAs) to hold and manage affordable and social housing within their HRA. Social
and affordable homes owned by the council, and managed within the HRA are let on
secure, fixed term tenancies, subject to rent control and subject to the right to buy.
Central Government does not support the use of housing companies to circumvent
these requirements for social and affordable homes. The council’s current
development programmes are funded and managed through its HRA, and this report
does not propose any changes to these programmes.

1.4

Housing Companies do however have a role in supplementing HRA housing
provision. They can own and manage homes with greater flexibility than councils
directly. They can offer a wider range of tenures and rent levels including market
renting, intermediate or sub-market renting, shared ownership shared equity or
market sales. A housing company could enable flexible joint venture arrangements
with other housing providers and developers and work alongside programmes within
the council’s HRA.

1.5

The draft Thanet Local Plan sets the housing requirement for 17,140 homes by 2031.
This sets the annual requirement for 897 homes, including 397 new affordable
homes, per annum over the 20 year plan period. As a result of slower than required
delivery in the early years of the Plan, the residual requirement has increased for the
remainder of the plan to 1,137 per annum. Over the last 10 years, however, annual
completions have averaged only 424 (net) units. This illustrates the need for the
Council to identify a different way of delivering housing to address the
under-performance of the development sector in the district. A wholly owned housing
company has the potential to be part of the council’s response to these challenges.

2.0

Purpose

2.1

This report sets out the proposal to establish a new council-owned housing company.
Before determining the form of any company it is essential to first agree its purpose,
so that arrangements can be established that best deliver the required outcomes.

2.2

The purpose of the council seeking to establish a housing company is therefore to:
●
Enable the delivery of new homes, that would otherwise not be delivered, with
the ability to directly acquire land and construct homes.
●
Acquire homes with the aim of improving conditions, management standards
and affordability for the benefit of residents.
●
Supplement existing housing programmes and funding within the council’s
HRA.
●
Offer a wider range of housing tenures and costs, in addition to existing
provision.
●
Create a financially viable and sustainable vehicle for the acquisition,
development and management of housing.
●
Such other purposes which are ancillary to the above purposes

2.3

Wholly owned housing companies are permitted to trade for profit and proposals will
include provision for any profits generated to be returned to the council, for use on
other housing activities or wider priorities.

Page 94

Agenda Item 10
2.4

Before recommending a wholly owned housing company, officers have considered a
number of other options ranging from joint ventures to lease arrangements. This work
concluded that a 100% (wholly) owned Council company would best meet the specific
outcomes set out above, provide flexibility and be relatively straightforward to
establish.

2.5

The company’s activities would need to be controlled by means of an approved
business plan, and it is anticipated that initial acquisition or development programmes
will be relatively small scale to ensure that any risks are manageable, with the
flexibility to take on larger scale programmes or projects in the future.

3.0

Governance Arrangements

3.1

There are a number of potential approaches to the governance of a wholly owned
housing company. Officers have considered other local examples of local authority
housing companies and recommend what is considered to be the most
straightforward and flexible approach.

3.2

It is recommended that the council establish a company limited by shares in which
100% of the shares are held by the Council. This would ensure that the council
retained a controlling oversight of the company’s activities. Over time, and with the
approval of the council, the company would have the ability to establish subsidiary
companies or joint ventures and to issue shares to other partners in exchange for
equity investment to increase its flexibility.

3.3

Through the use of a shareholders agreement the council will be able to define the
governance arrangements for the company and oversee its activities. The
shareholders agreement could, for example set out how the company’s Articles of
Association are approved, who sits on the company’s board of directors company,
how the company’s activities are funded and how its business plan is approved.
Within the structure, the council will need to consider it’s own internal governance
arrangements and decide how it manages any matters reserved to the council by the
shareholders agreement.

3.4

The company will require its own independent legal and financial advice and access
to other officer resources as required to deliver its programmes of work. This could be
provided by officers employed by TDC by means of a service level agreement, or by
officers employed directly by the company.

3.5

The table below provides a summary of the purpose of each of the required
controlling documents for the company’s activities.
Key controlling document
Shareholders agreement

Purpose of document
Sets out the level of control that shareholders
have over the activities of the company. It could
for example:
● Restrict activities to an approved business
plan.
● Restrict the sources of funding and/or level of
debt.
● Describe any scrutiny role reserved to the

Page 95

Agenda Item 10
council.
● Provide for any share capital invested by the
council in the company.
Articles of Association

Sets out the objectives of the company and
governance arrangements. In particular who will
act as company directors.

Business Plan

The business plan would set out the company’s
activities in detail for the coming period. The
shareholders agreement could require the
company to seek the council’s approval for the
business plan.

Loan and grant agreements

Sets out any funding to be provided by the council
in the form of loans or grants. It would include
amounts, drawdown arrangements, interest rates
and default arrangements.

Service Level Agreement

Describes any services provided by the council to
the company, for example staff time and set out
the cost of this.

3.6

Independent legal advice will be required to prepare these controlling documents and
to ensure that the council is fully aware of all of the legal ramifications of its preferred
governance arrangements.

3.6

Capital investment will be required to enable the company to develop or acquire
housing projects in the form of share capital, grants or loans, with income to meet the
costs of this capital investment coming from rents or sales receipts.

4.0

Funding the Company’s Activities

4.1

The company will have the ability to raise loan funding, grant funding and investment
capital as set out in its controlling documents. This could include raising loan finance
from the financial markets or seeking loan finance directly from the council.

4.2

The council could, for example borrow from the PWLB and on-lend capital funding on
to the company. The on-lending would be set out in a loan agreement between the
parties and would have to be at an appropriate market rate to comply with state aid
requirements. This would result in an uplift in the interest rate payable that would
generate a revenue income to the council’s general fund.

4.3

It is likely that the company will also require an investment of share capital to assist
with its set up costs, initial cash flow and initial capital projects. Detailed financial
modelling, as part of the companies business plan, will be needed to fully determine
the level of share capital required.

4.4

Over time, the company will generate income from rents and sales. This income
would be available to the company to fund borrowing costs and management and
maintenance costs. Any surpluses generated by the company, after corporation tax,
could be returned to the council in the form of dividends. Any TDC officers

Page 96

Agenda Item 10
undertaking work to support the company’s activities could recharge their time to the
company.
4.5

The diagram below illustrates an example of the potential flow of capital and revenue
funding through the company and council.

4.6

Any loans to the Company will be made in line with constraints of the Local
Government Act 2003 and related statutory and CIPFA guidance and State Aid
compliance restrictions, which require any loans to a company for commercial
purposes to be made at market rates.

4.7

Any funding provided to the company by the council would fall outside of the Housing
Revenue Account and be accounted for within the council’s General Fund. Any
payments to the council including share dividends and loan repayments would be
returned to the council’s General Fund

4.8

Independent financial advice will be required to ensure that the council is fully aware
of the financial and taxation implications of the proposals.

5.0

Initial Council Set-up Costs

5.1

To facilitate the establishment of the company, Cabinet approval is sought for an
initial budget of £50,000 to commission legal, taxation and treasury advice to assist
with the drafting of controlling documents and to establish effective financial
arrangements for the company and the council.

5.2

In making the decision, Cabinet will need to give due consideration to the risks and
benefits of loan facilities to the company. The Council will ensure it achieves an
appropriate return for its risk, that the risk has been minimised and the funding is
proportionate and properly balanced against the anticipated benefit. A summary of the
key areas of risk is shown in section 6.0 below.

Page 97

Agenda Item 10
5.3

It is proposed that the required £50,000 set-up budget should be funded from the
Business Rates Equalisation reserve.

5.4

Any future investment of share capital, grants or loans from the council to the
company, will need to be included in the council’s approved capital programme and
be properly reflected within the council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. Any
borrowing by the council for on-lending to the company will also be required to comply
with and operate within the confines of the council’s treasury management strategy.

6.0

Risk Management

6.1

Housing development is an inherently risky activity and modelling can only be done at
the initial stages by informed modelling of costs, risks and income. Key areas of risk
include:
●
Site abnormal and infrastructure costs: Road construction, services,
ground conditions, contamination, ecology. Provisional sums and
contingencies to cover these issues need to be included in evaluations.
●
Construction costs: Impact of market conditions and tendering, delays in
construction timetable.
●
Project management: The cost of effective project management and
professional fees needs to be included. Delays in project delivery can impact
on overall costs.
●
Planning risks: Details of planning consent, conditions and contributions.
●
Demand risks: Voids, sales risks, marketing costs.
●
Management and maintenance risks: Arrears of rents and service charges,
responsive repairs and planned maintenance, vandalism, servicing and
housing management.
●
Capital financing and interest rates: Interest rates and rent levels that are
sensitive to variation which would impact on project viability.

6.2

The establishment of a housing company and the preparation of the key controlling
documents will need to include detailed arrangements for the management of risk.

7.0

Implementation

7.1

Cabinet approval is sought to the principle of establishing a wholly owned housing
company, as set out in this report, subject to the approval of detailed proposals,
controlling documents and funding. The action plan set out at annex 1 identifies the
actions required to enable the company to commence trading activity by 1 April 2020.

7.2

Following approval of this proposal, detailed proposals will be developed, including
external legal and financial advice as required, including consideration of the following
issues:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Agreeing the required level of council control and scrutiny over the company’s
activities.
Establish required internal governance arrangements
Consider the scale of development proposed and the required capital funding.
Appointment of required consultants and advisors
Preparation of draft controlling documentation
Preparation of draft business plan
Development of detailed operating arrangements
Appointment of the company’s board of directors and company secretary

Page 98

Agenda Item 10
●
●

Considering the staffing and resource requirements for the company
Conclusion of all legal and financial processes to establish the Company,
including the contractual arrangements (e.g Articles of Association) between
the Council and the Company.

Contact Officer:
Reporting to:

Bob Porter, Head of Housing and Planning
Tim Willis, Deputy Chief Executive and S151 officer

Annex List
Annex 1

Action Plan

Background Papers
Title
None

Details of where to access copy

Corporate Consultation
Finance
Legal

Chris Blundell Head of Finance and Procurement
Tim Howes, Director of Corporate Governance

Page 99

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Annex 1
Annex 1
Detailed Action Plan

Task

Timescale

Stage 1 - Establishing the proposal
Decision Gateway 1 - Cabinet report - In principle agreement and set up
budget

July

Set up working group/shadow board, including key officers and members

August

Commission specialist Legal advice

August

Commission specialist treasury advice

August

Research local market context - housing need, demand, rental, sales
value, build costs, acquisition costs

August/
September

Develop indicative business plan for detailed approval stage, including
outline financing agreements.

October/November

Develop draft controlling documents (Memorandum and Articles of
Association, Shareholders Agreement, Service Level Agreements)

October/November

Scrutiny of proposals at the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

19 November

Decision Gateway 2 - Cabinet approval for
incorporation of company and detailed controlling documents

12 December

Stage 2 - Set up the company
Recruit and appoint Directors

January 2020

Register Company and named Company Secretary

January 2020

Identify independent financial and legal advisors to the company

January 2020

Complete shareholders agreement and Memorandum of Articles

January 2020

Complete any required service level agreements with TDC

February 2020

Apply for a company bank account, set up accounting systems, policies
and procedures and insurances

February/March 2020

Finalise initial Business Plan for approval

January/February
2020

Scrutiny of initial business plan and funding requirements at the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee
20 February 2020
Decision Gateway 3 - Approval of initial business plan and funding
requirements at Cabinet

12 March 2010

Decision Gateway 4 - Approval of required capital expenditure by full
council

26 March 2020

Complete funding agreements ready for trading activities

31 March 2020

Page 101

Agenda Item 10
Annex 1

Page 102

